A Review of Dispersion Model Inter-comparison Studies Using ISC, R91, AERMOD and ADMS

R&D Technical Report P353

D.J. Hall,* A.M. Spanton,* F. Dunkerley,**⁽¹⁾ M. Bennett** and R.F. Griffiths.**

Research Contractor:

BRE Ltd

- * Envirobods Ltd.
- ** Environmental Technology Centre, Dept of Chemical Engineering, UMIST.
- Now at the Dept of Wind Engineering and Atmospheric Physics, Risø National Laboratory, Denmark.

Further copies of this report are available from: Environment Agency R&D Dissemination Centre, c/o WRc, Frankland Road, Swindon, Wilts SN5 8YF



tel: 01793-865000 fax: 01793-514562 e-mail: publications@wrcplc.co.uk

Publishing Organisation

Environment Agency Rio House Waterside Drive Aztec West Almondsbury Bristol BS32 4UD

Tel: 01454 624400 Fax: 01454 624409

© Environment Agency 2000

October 2000

ISBN 1857052765

All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior permission of the Environment Agency.

The views expressed in this document are not necessarily those of the Environment Agency. Its officers, servants or agents accept no liability whatsoever for any loss or damage arising from the interpretation or use of the information, or reliance upon views contained herein.

Dissemination status

Internal: Released to Regions

External: Released to Public Domain

Statement of use

This report is a review of intercomparison studies of dispersion models ISC, R91, AERMOD and ADMS. The information in this document is for use by EA staff and others involved in the regulation of industrial emissions.

Research Contractor

This document was produced under R&D Project P4-078 by:

BRE Ltd Bucknalls Lane Garston Watford

WD2 7JR

Tel: 01923 664000 Fax: 01923 664010

Environment Agency's Project Manager

The Environment Agency's Project Manager for Project P4-078 was: Dr Roger Timmis, National Centre for Risk Assessment and Options Appraisal*

^{*}Now at the National Compliance Assessment Service

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report reviews inter-comparison studies of the new generation dispersion models: the USEPA's AERMOD and the UKADMS models. The main concern has been with the relative performance of AERMOD and UKADMS with each other and with the USEPA ISC and the UK R91 models which have been in common use for regulatory purposes in the UK but are now being replaced by the new generation models.

There have been relatively few model inter-comparison studies of this sort since the introduction of ADMS around 1991/2. Most studies have been concerned with the comparison of single models with field data. Such validation studies are an important feature of model development but are not a good guide to the differences between models. Field data is invariably highly variable and it is only possible to compare models on a basis of bulk statistical parameters which do not readily reveal the detailed reasons for differences between model dispersion calculations. The latter information can only be readily obtained from systematic parametric studies aimed at revealing differences between the different facets of model calculations such as basic rates of dispersion, plume rise, interaction with the top of the boundary layer, building entrainment and topography.

Only ten studies were found directly comparing either ADMS and AERMOD with each other or with the older models. Only four of these were of the systematic parametric variety. Some critical differences between the models are apparent in the studies but they are individually generally of limited extent and leave many matters un-investigated. The effects of building entrainment and topography in particular have been little studied. The literature is also constrained in that little of it is peer reviewed and a significant part of it is not readily available. Little attention has been given to variant versions of models issued over time and any differences between them. A critical feature of inter-comparisons appears to be the handling of meteorological data inputs to the models, especially in the relationship between Monin Obukhov length scale based inputs and Pasquill/Gifford stability categories.

Keywords:

Air pollution; dispersion modelling; model comparison; model evaluation; impact assessments; ISC; R91; AERMOD; ADMS.

CONTENTS

		Page
EX	XECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
Lis	st of Figures	iii
Lis	st of Tables	V
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	INTER-COMPARISON STUDIES	3
	2.1 Jones et al (1995)	3
	2.2 Bugg (1996)	5
	2.3 The HMIP ADMS validation study (Carruthers et al (1996))	7
	2.4 Maul et al (1996)	10
	2.5 Harvey (1998)	11
	2.6 American Petroleum Institute study (Hanna et al(1999a,b))	13
	2.7 Comparisons involving building entrainment	16
	2.8 AERMOD evaluation intercomparisons	17
	2.9 Comparisons involving topography	18
	2.10 Papers from the HARMO99 conference	19
3.	DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	21
4.	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	25
5.	REFERENCES	26
ΑF	PPENDIX A: Bibliography of model validation and intercomparison papers	29

List of Figures

Figure 1. Comparison between the ADMS and the NRPB R91 models of basic rates of dispersion for a neutrally buoyant plume dispersing in unstable, neutral and stable atmospheres.

From Jones et al (1995).

- Figure 2. Comparison between the ADMS and NRPB R91 models of:
 - a) particle deposition;
 - b) the effects of plume rise;
 - c) the effects of building entrainment.

10 m stack, neutrally stable atmosphere.

From Jones et al (1995).

Figure 3. Effect of stack height on the value and position of the maximum concentration from the ADMS 1.06 model for two choices of meteorological data matching with

Pasquill/Gifford categories.

From Bugg (1995).

Figure 4. Comparison between ADMS 1.06 and the PLUMES model. Maximum concentrations and distance from source. From Bugg (1995).

Figure 5. Comparison between ADMS 1.06, PLUMES and ALMANAC models. Ground level concentration against downwind distance for two tall stacks with buoyant discharges.

From Bugg (1995).

Figure 6. Comparison between ADMS and R91 model predictions of plume rise and (limited) LIDAR data.

From Test Case R6 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 7. Comparison between ADMS, R91 and ISCST2 model predictions of ground level concentration and (limited) LIDAR data.

From Test Case R6 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 8. Comparison between ADMS and R91 model predictions of plume rise and lateral plume spread and LIDAR data.

From Test Case R3 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 9. BOOT statistics for Test Case R3 (Figure 8). From Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 10. Comparison between ADMS and R91 model predictions of plume rise, lateral and vertical dispersion against LIDAR data.

From Test Case R4 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 11. Comparison between ADMS and R91 model predictions of plume rise and vertical dispersion against LIDAR data.

From Test Case R5 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 12. BOOT statistics for Test Case R5 (Figure 11). From Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 13. Comparison between ADMS and R91 model predictions of lateral plume concentration against LIDAR data.

From Test Case D7 of Carruthers et al (1996).

Figure 14. Comparison between ADMS (version 1.5), BREEZE (ISCST2), DISTAR and APPRAISE (R91).

From Maul et al (1996).

Figure 15. Comparison between ADMS (version 2.2) and AERMOD.

Annual mean and maximum concentrations for a buoyant release from a 70 m stack.

From Harvey (1998).

Figure 16. Comparison between ADMS and AERMOD models against wind tunnel data for cases with significant building entrainment.

From Harvey and Obasaju (1999).

Figure 17. Comparison between EPA models for the Kincaid and Baldwin flat terrain data sets. Hourly SO₂ data. From Paine et al (1998).

Figure 18. Comparison between AERMOD and ISC for a range of stack heights and rural and urban conditions.

From Peters et al (1999).

Figure 19. Comparison between AERMOD and ISC for a single 35m stack height and a range of test conditions. From Peters et al (1999).

Figure 20. Comparisons between EPA models for four hilly terrain data sets. All hourly SO₂ data except Tracy (hourly SF₆). From Paine et al (1998).

Figure 21. Comparison between R91 and ADMS models with krypton-85 releases at the Sellafield site. 24 hour averaged data. From Hill et al (1999).

Figure 22. Comparison between ISC, OML and ADMS models against SO₂ measurements around the Bitola power plant.

Scatter and quantile/quantile plots.

From Kanevce et al (1999).

Figure 23. Comparison between ISC, OML and ADMS models against SO₂ measurements around the Bitola power plant.

24 hourly averaged data for four monitoring sites.

From Kanevce et al (1999).

Figure 24. Comparison between ADMS 3, AERMOD and ISCST3 against Three Sets of Field Data.
From McHugh et al (1999).

List of	Fables	Page
Table 1.	Relations between Pasquill/Gifford categories and Monin/Obukhov length scale used in Bugg and in Jones et al inter-comparisons.	6
Table 2.	LIDAR data test cases for Carruthers et al (1996) inter-comparison study.	8
Table 3.	Details of Harvey (1998) four test cases.	12
Table 4.	Summary data from Harvey (1998) calculations.	13
Table 5.	Overview of model evaluation results for ISCST3, ADMS and AERMOD for arc max for the five field sites. From Hanna et al (1999b).	15
Table 6.	Hanna et al (1999b) summary scores of model performance.	16
Table 7.	Hanna et al (1999b) median performance measures for all the field data comparisons.	17
Table 8.	BOOT statistics for R91 and ADMS model inter-comparison with field data from the Sellafield site. From Hill et al (1999).	19
Table 9.	Comparison statistics for ADMS, AERMOD and ISCST3 against three sets of field data. From McHugh et al (1999).	21

1. INTRODUCTION

Dispersion models are used for many purposes, but one of the most important is as an indicator of ambient pollution levels for regulation and control purposes. Regulation is usually by one of two approaches, by controlling pollutant emissions directly or by setting limits on the acceptable levels of airborne pollutants. These limits may be by setting probabilities of combinations of contaminant concentration and exposure time, as is done, for example, with risk assessment studies for toxic or flammable gas releases from industrial accidents. Alternatively, there may be statistically-based exposure limits in various forms, as with the regulation of controlled emissions of the common pollutants. These usually take the form of a number of limits applied simultaneously. For example, in the case of sulphur and nitrogen oxides in the UK, there are limits (DoE(1996)) based on annual average concentrations as well as a number of upper bound percentile concentration limits set for different averaging times. These range between 15 minutes (the 99.9%ile sulphur dioxide limit) and 24 hours, and for both 100%ile and 98%ile hourly averaged limits. There are also annual limits set for deposition of sulphur and nitrogen oxides to the ground to avoid exceeding critical acid loads for different species.

In regulatory applications the prediction of ambient concentrations and deposition using dispersion models directly affects any control procedures that may be required, by way of emission controls or of discharge stack heights for example, or even whether a process is authorised at all. The accuracy of models and any differences in behaviour between them then takes on a crucial importance and may affect substantial levels of expenditure on commercial plant.

In practice the accuracy of dispersion models and their ability to predict dispersion behaviour will always be limited for a number of reasons. The models themselves are significant approximations to true dispersion behaviour and, even given a perfect dispersion model, prediction of the state of the atmosphere (on which dispersion behaviour critically depends) is also approximate. This is partly due to the limited availability of meteorological data and partly due to the natural variability of the atmosphere, either in a given, defined state or on a statistical basis from one year to the next. The subject has long been one of concern and discussion and in more recent years has led to a substantial research effort. However, it has been generally accepted that in principle these difficulties, though quantifiable to some extent, are unavoidable in practical models. The major effort in model development, besides extending the range of application, has then tended towards minimising systematic errors in calculation and in trying to define the degree of uncertainty associated with model calculations.

The regulator is thus left with a degree of uncertainty in this aspect of air pollution control practice. This is compounded by differences between different dispersion models used for the same task. This latter is a normal state of affairs and it is common for substantial differences to exist in nominally identical calculations between different dispersion models and between different versions of the same model. These can to some extent be avoided by proscription, requiring the use of single models for specific purposes. This is done, for example, by the USEPA with its ISC models, which are expected to be replaced by the newer AERMOD model in due course.

The regulatory authorities in the UK have never used proscription, preferring to allow applicants for authorisation and other forms of approval to submit cases using models they felt to be the most appropriate. There are good reasons for this approach, but it does leave the

question of differences between models unresolved. Until relatively recently this deficiency had not caused excessive difficulty in the UK as most regulatory dispersion calculations had used single or similar models. Up to the early 1990's, most calculations used either the ISC models or the UK R91 model (Clarke (1979)), which were largely similar. Since then, the significantly more advanced UKADMS model (Carruthers et al (1994)), which was introduced into the UK in this period, has tended to become a de-facto standard in the UK, being the preferred model for major authorisation applications, so that use of a single model has largely prevailed. However, the more recent appearance of the AERMOD model, which is an advanced model similar in type to UKADMS, has left a more open situation. It has become increasingly likely that the regulatory authorities will be subject to applications from at least both of these models, and probably to a wider range of models, over time.

From a regulatory point of view, the differences in predictions between models and between different versions of the same model are of equal, if not greater, importance than their absolute reliability. These differences are often of significant scale and can directly affect regulatory decisions. Hall and Spanton (1999) show an example of the differences occurring between two recent versions of the UKADMS model and two choices of meteorological data. It seems surprising, therefore, that relatively few inter-comparisons of this sort are made. The papers of the last three harmonisation meetings, at Mol (Cosemans and Maes (1995)), Ostend (Kretschmar and Cosemans (1997)) and Rhodes (1998, to be published) were mainly concerned with validation against field data and with the problems of handling and standardising dispersion and meteorological data. These matters are important in their own right, but should not preclude comparative studies. It may be argued, rightly, that comparisons of different models with the same field data represent such model intercomparisons. However, as these are tied to the limited range of conditions prevailing in the field experiment, they do not usually allow systematic evaluation of the most important facets of dispersion so that differences between models can be clearly shown. This is discussed in more detail by Hall and Spanton (1999).

In order to attend specifically to the regulatory aspects of dispersion model behaviour, the Environment Agency's National Centre for Risk Analysis and Options Appraisal has commissioned an evaluation of the UKADMS and USEPA AERMOD models for regulatory purposes. The evaluation is to consider the strengths and weaknesses of both models in regulatory applications and the best options for their practical use. It is also to include the older USEPA ISC models, as a base case against which to compare the newer models. The intention of the study is to examine differences between the models rather than their absolute veracity. The latter is already the subject of study (and publication) by model developers and others as part of the model validation process and the greater need at present is in assessing the regulatory problem of differences between models. Part of the study is to produce a protocol for model inter-comparison, which can act as a set of test cases to be used for assessing changes in models and versions of models over the longer term. The methodology for this is discussed in Hall et al (1999).

The present paper is the initial review of previous inter-comparison work for the study. It has concentrated on work in which calculations for two or more models are compared, whether against experimental data or some assumed common meteorological or topographic conditions. There is also a bibliography (Appendix A) which gives the majority of the papers that could be found relating to AERMOD, UKADMS, R91 and the ISC models and which provided technical descriptions of the models and validation studies against experimental data, as well as any model inter-comparison studies. Only those most directly related to this review are referred to here.

Overall there are relatively few model inter-comparison studies compared with the total number of papers (over 100) in the bibliography and with the number of model validation papers using experimental data. Most are related to UKADMS, partly because of its longer availability (AERMOD has been available for about the last 18 months) and derive from the UK.

2. INTER-COMPARISON STUDIES

2.1 Jones et al (1995)

The first inter-comparison study to appear using the UKADMS model was that of Jones et al (1995), which compared ADMS (an early version, 1.06, which calculated dispersion for single meteorological states) with models using the NRPB R91 model (Clarke(1979)), at that time the most commonly used basis for UK dispersion studies. The report discussed differences between the physics of the two models in some detail. It noted that, though the ADMS model remained a gaussian model, nearly all aspects of the newer model, rates of dispersion, plume rise and building entrainment behaviour were different. In particular, the effects of boundary layer stratification were no longer directly related to the Pasquill/Gifford stability categories used in the R91 and EPA models, but to the Monin-Obukhov length scale. Also, for the first time, the boundary layer depth was computed directly instead of using a fixed value related solely to Pasquill/Gifford stability category. A critical component of the ADMS model was the meteorological data processor, which determined these and other essential input parameters to the model from standard meteorological data.

The study compared four main characteristics of the two models: basic rates of dispersion, plume rise, building entrainment and particle deposition. Figure 1 is a composite of three figures from Jones et al, showing differences in basic rates of dispersion of a neutrally buoyant plume in unstable (Category B), neutral (Category D) and stable (Category F) stratification for sources at three heights. Equivalent values of the Monin-Obukhov length scale were determined for use with the ADMS model; this is discussed further in relation to Bugg's work. The surface roughness, z_0 , for the study was set at 0.3m. The plots are of plume centreline ground level concentrations with distance; students of the Bruce-Turner Workbook (Bruce-Turner(1994)) will recognise the method of presentation. The report notes the more marked effects of stratification on dispersion rates in the ADMS model compared to the R91 model; the former produced much greater vertical dispersion rates in unstable atmospheres and much reduced dispersion rates in stable atmospheres. Figure 1 shows these differences clearly. In the unstable and neutrally stable atmospheres the distribution of concentration with distance followed a similar form, the main difference being in the position and magnitude of the peak concentration. Overall, the ADMS model produced lower maximum concentrations than the R91 model at shorter distances from the source. The differences in concentration were relatively small in the plot for the unstable boundary layer and very marked for the higher sources in a stable boundary layer. In this latter case the point of maximum concentration was further from the source using the ADMS model. It must be noted that the scales in Figure 1 contain six decades of concentration vertically and four decades of distance horizontally, so that the differences between the models, though apparently small in some cases, are significant. Maximum ground level concentrations in the neutrally stable example (the centre plot) were different by about a factor of two between the models and differences in the distance to the maximum ground level concentration were of the same order

Figure 2 shows, again, a composite of three figures from the original report for comparisons of particle deposition, the effects of plume rise and of building entrainment, all in a neutrally stable atmosphere.

Deposition calculations are shown on the left-hand plot of Figure 2, for a discharge from a 10m stack. Jones et al noted the marked differences in deposition between the two models and especially that the ADMS model showed no difference in deposition between 1 μ m and 10 μ m particles. Since the deposition relies on an assumed deposition velocity applied to the calculated concentration at ground level the differences between the deposition plot (the left hand plot of Figure 2) and the related ground level concentration plot (the centre plot in Figure 1) are mainly related to these deposition assumptions. The report is not perfectly clear at this point, but it appears that the ADMS model was provided with full (discretised) particle size distributions based on 1 μ m and 10 μ m median values while the R91 model was fed with single particle deposition velocities for 1 μ m and 10 μ m particle sizes. The particle deposition velocities used in the ADMS model are not given. Particle deposition velocities are not precise factors, they depend upon such things as the type of surface and their choice is to some extent a matter of individual opinion. Present versions of ADMS allow a user choice of deposition velocity as well as supplying default values. It is not clear how this comparison would have appeared had identical deposition velocities been used for both models.

The effects of release buoyancy and stack height are shown in the centre plot of Figure 2 for combinations of two stack heights, 30m and 70m, and two heat releases, 1MW and 10MW. Differences between the models were greatest with the 10MW heat release, those with the 1MW release appearing relatively slight. The ADMS model produced maximum concentrations closer to the source, as with the passive releases, but overall differences between the models were smaller. It appears that to some extent differences in both rates of dispersion and plume rise between the models were compensating one another. The R91 model calculations used the Briggs plume rise model. The ADMS model has a more complex, recursive, plume rise calculation in which the plume rise depends on the rate of dispersion.

The effects of building entrainment are shown in the right hand plot of Figure 2, for a discharge on the roof of a building of 60m height and three widths, 20m (a tall, narrow building), 60m (a cubical building) and 180m (a low, wide building). The R91 model produced well ordered curves with the maximum concentration in inverse proportion to the building cross sectional area. Further downwind the concentrations did not distinguish the effects of building shape. The ADMS model produced maximum concentrations in the building wake of a similar order, though lower, than the R91 model, but showed order of magnitude fluctuations in concentration at distances between 50m and 300m behind the building, before falling monotonically with increasing distance.

The R91 model used Barker's(1982) virtual source model, which shifts the source upwind by an amount designed to account for the enhanced lateral dispersion in the building wake. The ADMS building entrainment module uses a quite complex procedure which partitions the plume between building entrained and unentrained parts and modifies the rate of vertical dispersion to account for enhanced turbulence in the flow field downwind of the building. Sources outside the building wake may only be partially entrained. With a source on the building roof, complete entrainment of the discharge would normally be expected. Generally for this sort of discharge/building arrangement, experimental evidence is that for buildings square on to the wind the fall in concentration with downwind distance is relatively smooth and well ordered, following the R91 type of distribution. It seems possible that the ADMS

calculations were showing some effect of plume partitioning and the type of variation in concentration close to the source that this discretisation can produce.

Jones et al concluded from their study that the ADMS model generated plumes that expanded vertically more rapidly in unstable flows and more slowly in stable flows than the R91 model. As a result, the maximum concentration was closer to the source in unstable flows and further away in stable flows than from the R91 model. In some cases the resultant differences in ground level concentration predicted by the two models were very marked. Overall, maximum concentrations tended to be different by a factor of 2-3 between the models. Such differences might be expected between a newer, more advanced model and an older, more basic one and were not, per se, reasons for criticism. However, they did feel that a number of features of the ADMS model required attention due to the unlikely nature of the results that it produced. Amongst these were a failure to account for wind direction meandering at long times, anomalous predictions of particle deposition and an unusual prediction of concentrations in the near field behind building wakes.

2.2 Bugg (1995)

At about the same time as Jones et al reported their work, Bugg (1995) published an MSc Thesis which also contained an inter-comparison study between two conventional gaussian models, the CEGB ALMANAC model and the PLUMES model, and ADMS version 1.05 (issued in 1993). Both ALMANAC and PLUMES are based on the NRPB R91 model dispersion rates and were in common use. Bugg's dispersion studies were concerned with relatively tall isolated stacks with buoyant releases, related to typical municipal waste incinerator and large generating station practice.

An important factor in the inter-comparison process noted by Bugg was the sensitivity of the calculation to the choice of meteorological conditions used to match the Monin-Obukhov length scale (used in the ADMS model) to the Pasquill/Gifford categories (used in the earlier models). Bugg tried two optional matches, labelled ADMS-1 and ADMS-2 respectively, shown in Table 1. The left hand set of data were from a note provided by CERC and were used by both Bugg and by Jones et al. In practice the relationship between the Pasqill/Gifford category and the other parameters is neither precise nor fixed. There is a strong dependence on surface roughness (see Golder (1972), for example) and a given Pasquill/Gifford category will correspond to a range of values of the Monin/Obukhov length The right hand data set in Table 1 were derived by Bugg as being within the range of possible values. The left hand data set appears to be consistent with a surface roughness, z₀, of about 0.1m, as used by Bugg. Jones et al used a surface roughness of 0.3m for their study but did not appear to appreciate the need to modify the values of L_m appropriately. Bugg's values of L_m for ADMS-2 are on the extreme range of what is probable, but not impossible.

The results of Bugg's comparison for the two meteorological data sets are shown in Figure 3, which is a composite of three of Bugg's individual figures for unstable, neutral and stable conditions. The plots are of loci of the maximum ground level concentration against its distance from the source and each plotted point represents a result for one stack height, for which there is a matching value on the other curves. They are effectively plots of the position and value of the peak concentration from plots like those of Figures 1 and 2. It can be seen that the effects of Bugg's choice of L_m has had only a limited effect in the near-neutral stabilities (where L_m is large and its effect on dispersion relatively slight) but a much greater effect in unstable and stable boundary layers. There are no results for stack heights above 80m in the stable case as the plume was above the boundary layer. Overall the greatest

effect appears to have been in modifying the downwind distances to maximum concentration. However, the differences in maximum ground level concentration were significant.

Table 1. Relations between Pasquill/Gifford categories and Monin/Obukhov length scale used in Bugg and in Jones et al inter-comparisons.

Pasquill/Gifford Stability Category		DMS-1 (Bugg and Jones et a		AI	OMS-2 (Br	ugg)
	Wind Speed (m s ⁻¹)	1/L _m * (m)	Boundary Layer Height (m)	Wind Speed (m s ⁻¹)	1/L _m * (m)	Boundary Layer Height (m)
A	1	-0.5	1300	0.625	-2.5	1300
В	2	-0.1	900	2	-0.147	920
С	5	-0.01	850	4.12	-0.0224	840
D	5	0	800	4.12	0	500
Е	3	+0.01	400	3.4	+0.005	400
F	2	+0.05	100			
G	1	+0.2	100			

Not Used by Bugg

Bugg's comparisons showed variable differences between the three models. One example is shown in Figure 4, of maximum concentration and its distance from the source for different discharge temperatures from an 80m stack. The curves are through groups of data for the same model and stability category and plot the loci of the maxima and their distances for different stack exit temperatures (and therefore of plume buoyancy). Differences between these two model calculations were quite marked for both stable and unstable stability categories, especially in the downwind distance to the point of maximum concentration.

Figure 5 shows results of two of Bugg's case studies, plotted as ground level concentration against downwind distance. The plots are the same as those of Jones et al but the axes are switched. Case Study 1, in the upper plots of Figure 5, is for a 91m stack with 9.3MW heat release, consistent with the discharge from a large municipal incinerator for example. Case Study 6, on the lower plots in Figure 5, is for a 198m stack with 210MW of heat release, consistent with the discharge from a major generating station. The pair of plots in each case study are of the annual average concentration on the left and for the single hourly weather condition producing maximum ground level concentration on the right. All the calculations showed marked differences between the models, including between the two R91 based models. Bugg remarked in this case that the differences are probably mainly related to the way in which the two models treat penetration of the boundary layer. The ALMANAC and ADMS models permit this, the PLUMES model does not. There are a few consistent patterns in the comparison. On some occasions the models produced quite similar results and in others major differences. Differences tended to be greatest in stable and unstable stratification, while similarities were generally (but not consistently) associated with neutral stratification. For lower stacks the two R91 based models tended to produce similar results. Also, in the

^{*} L_m: Monin/Obukhov length scale

four examples of Figure 5, the ADMS 1.06 model persistently showed higher maximum ground level concentrations closer to the stack than the other two models. Bugg remarked on this being a general feature of the comparison. In some cases, in unstable stratification, the ADMS model produced the maximum ground level concentration within one stack height distance from the source. Bugg also noted that this feature of the ADMS model had been modified in later versions so that the dispersion to the ground was less rapid in unstable stratification.

Bugg commented in his work on the difficulties of setting up precisely similar dispersion calculations between the models, including discretisation of the software and different model implementations. Grid resolution had, for example been found to be important in the ADMS model. He noted that the differences between the models revealed in his comparison were highly significant from a regulatory point of view and that more careful assessment of differences between models was desirable. He also commented on the importance of validation studies and on the importance of reliable test data sets for model validation (since attended to by Olesen(1995) and others). Finally, he pointed out the lack of reliable independent guidance on the use of models and their reliability, and also on the lack of information on differences between model calculations, all matters which directly affected their regulatory use.

2.3 The HMIP ADMS validation study (Carruthers et al (1996))

This study was commissioned by HMIP's National Centre during the course of Bugg's work. Its aim was both to compare the most recent version of the ADMS model (by this time version 1.35) with the R91 model and the USEPA ISC2 model, the then current ISC model. The version of the R91 model used was the CERC DISTAR model, which exactly reproduced the NRBP model together with Brigg's plume rise formulae (from the R91 (Clarke (1979)) and R157 (Jones (1983)) reports). The basis for the comparison was relatively recently acquired LIDAR data on plume rise and dispersion, which had not previously been used for this purpose. Though the aim was to compare the models with experimental data, the study still represented a model inter-comparison, within boundaries constrained by the data. The full report had a limited circulation, but a shortform (Carruthers et al (1997)) appeared in the fourth Harmonisation Workshop at Ostend.

Two main databases of LIDAR measurements were considered. The first was of large generating station plumes, partly collected by the CEGB and continued subsequently, using the same rapid scanning LIDAR, by M. Bennett of UMIST. The second source was a variety of dispersion situations, mainly at smaller scales, collected by the NPL differential absorption LIDAR. After considering the two data bases, five data sets were chosen as a basis for the model comparison exercise. The report's Table 4.2.3, which lists the data sets, is reproduced in Table 2.

It can be seen that four of the chosen data sets were for tall stacks with high buoyancy discharges (they are all from large generating stations) capable of producing plumes which would rise to the top of the boundary layer. The fifth was a neutrally buoyant discharge close to the ground. The main part of the study was thus effectively concerned with dispersion from tall stacks.

There were a substantial number of individual data sets from each site, so that ensemble statistics for the data could be produced. The inter-comparison used Hanna et al's (1991) BOOT software for evaluating statistically variable data in some cases. The work also gave

detailed attention to determining the state of the atmospheric boundary layer in the data sets and to an adequate procedure for quality control and audit trails in the work programme.

Table 2. LIDAR data test cases for Carruthers et al (1996) inter-comparison study.

Site	Release Height (m)	Thermal Emission (MW)	Topography	Scanning Plane	Sampling Period (min)	Number of Data Sets
R3	259	280	Flat	y-z (250 <x<1300m)< th=""><th>30</th><th>76</th></x<1300m)<>	30	76
R4	210	95	Estuarine	y-z (250 <x<1100m)< th=""><th>30</th><th>11</th></x<1100m)<>	30	11
R5	122	60	Flat	x-z (y~0)	15	69
R6	137	100	Flat	x-y (z~40m)	10	23
D7	12	-ve	Moorland	y-z (0 <x<200m x-z (line of sight)</x<200m 	10	9 from>90

The study contains excellent descriptions of the different models (including a long section on the ADMS model technical background), on the differences in the meteorological data they required and the reasons for this. In particular the study discusses relating Pasquill/Gifford based stability criteria to those using Monin/Obukhov length scales. Unfortunately, the intercomparison itself is less clear and the figures and data are often difficult to interpret as they are not well discussed. For example, the importance of taking wind speeds at a height related to the dispersing plume is noted in the introduction, but its use in practice is less clear and there is reference to using 10m wind speeds for the R91 model. The effect of this on the inter-comparison is not always discussed.

The different data sets were used to compare different model parameters, depending on the field data available, and were presented in a variety of ways. The three models were not fully compared with each data set and the greatest interest was in differences between the ADMS and R91 models. Some examples of the inter-comparison with the R6 data set are shown in Figures 6 and 7. Figure 6 shows plots of plume height for the ADMS and R91 models. The upper plots are of calculated plume rise (the ADMS calculation gives both mean plume height and plume centreline) for two methods of assessment of the stratification, using surface heat flux or using date (and therefore insolation) and cloud cover. The lower curve in this latter plot is that of the R91 model and is the only example in the comparison where there is a significant difference between the models; in general plume height calculations for the two models were indistinguishable within the tolerance of calculation. The crosses on the two upper plots are of the LIDAR plume measurements; there are only a few of these but they seem consistent with the calculated plume rises. The lower plots on Figure 6 are of measured (LIDAR) against calculated plume height for all the data. Differences between the model calculations are relatively small and both models underestimated the higher plume rises, probably because the plume rise terminated near the top of the boundary layer. Figure 7 shows three examples of centreline ground level plume concentrations, for LIDAR

measurements relatively high, low and close to the model calculations. The few small crosses on the figures are, as before, the LIDAR data. The only clearly visible line is that for the ADMS model and the pronounced vertical bars are estimates, using the ADMS fluctuations model, of one standard deviation of the possible range of concentrations. Concentrations calculated from the R91 and ISC models are low on the plot axis, predicting much lower concentrations than the ADMS model, but fall within the ADMS estimates of one standard deviation of the data range. They are difficult to see on the plot: a log scale would have been helpful. It can be seen from these examples that the differences in the comparison are large, but overall the ADMS model produced concentrations closer to the LIDAR data. The report attributes these differences between the models mainly to the method of determining the stratification. The ground-based procedures of the R91 and ISC models predicted neutral stratification, while the ADMS meteorological input model predicted a convective boundary layer.

Figure 8 shows examples of comparisons of calculated plume rise and plume spread from the ADMS and R91 models against the R3 data set. The R91 data is grey-shaded, the ADMS data is black. The stratification estimates were based on heat flux. For both plume rise and spread the ADMS model gave estimates on and above the 1:1 line and the R91 model gave results on and below the line. Statistical box plots, following Hanna et al's (1991) BOOT procedures were produced for this comparison and some examples are shown in Figure 9, matching the plots of Figure 8. These use Monin-Obukhov length scaling for the plot axis; equivalent plots using Pasquill/Gifford categories are given in the report. Though the choice of axis does not affect the statistical differences, the report notes that the determination of atmospheric stability differed between the models. The ADMS model calculations ranged between neutral and unstable, while the R91 calculations were all for neutrally stable flows. Figure 9 shows statistically the differences observable in the scatter plot of Figure 8, that the ADMS model tended to overestimate the plume height and spreads, while the R91 model tended to underestimate these quantities. Overall, statistically the ADMS model calculations were closer to the field data.

Figure 10 shows scatter plots of plume rise, lateral and vertical spread for the ADMS and R91 models for the R4 data comparison. There were no BOOT statistics plotted in this case, though some were tabulated. There is less LIDAR data than with the R3 site, but overall the two models showed the same sorts of difference as the previous comparison, with the ADMS model tending to overestimate the dispersion and plume rise and the R91 model tending to underestimate these quantities. Overall the ADMS model gave the better fit to the data.

Figures 11 and 12 show scatter plots and BOOT statistics for the R5 site data for plume rise and vertical plume spread, for stability based on heat flux. The data in Figure 11 is scattered and within this there appears to be little difference between the models' estimates of plume rise. The vertical plume spread was again mainly overestimated by the ADMS model and underestimated by the R91 model, but the distinctions were less than with the previous test cases discussed and both models had significant numbers of both over- and underpredictions. The related BOOT statistics in Figure 12 show this, with little statistical difference between estimates of plume rise and similar relative over- and under-prediction by the ADMS and R91 models respectively.

The final data set, D7, was the small-scale short range dispersion study at Spadeadam which was quite distinct from the other data sets. Figure 13 shows plots of plume centreline lateral concentration distributions from the ADMS and R91 models and LIDAR data at two source distances, 40m and 80m. Some of the original detail is lost in this plot (but only a little, the

original is in an unfortunate choice of colours) but the essential features are visible. These are that both models significantly over-predicted the plume spread and peak concentration obtained by the LIDAR, the ADMS model by the greater amount. The report questioned the reliability of this data set as the plume path was uncertain (the release was slightly heavier-than-air and appeared to fall to the ground, though not within the 80m distance of the data in Figure 13) and the rate of release of the trace gas (a nitrogen/methane mixture) was queried. The spatial resolution of the LIDAR (about 5m) was also large compared with the scale of the dispersion at the short ranges used.

Overall this study provided a number of useful insights. The first was that there was a significant and growing amount of useful LIDAR data for this sort of comparison, without which the behaviour of buoyant plumes high in the boundary layer is hard to measure. The second was that calculations of plume rise by the three models were (in the tall stack cases) mostly indistinguishable within the order of accuracy to which this type of calculation is feasible. The third was that there were significant differences in rates of dispersion between the models in the neutral to unstable flows represented by most of the field data. The ADMS model generally gave significantly higher plume spread rates than the R91 model. Also the ADMS model tended to overestimate plume spread rates from the data sets and the R91 model to underestimate them. Overall the ADMS model was the better fit to the tall stack data sets. The fourth was that, as noted by Bugg, model calculations were heavily dependent on choices of the state of the atmosphere, especially of the stability. In two of the test cases the R91 model ground-based stability parameters indicated neutral stability while the upper atmosphere was unstable according to the ADMS meteorological input module calculations. These differences resulted in cases where the ADMS model was run assuming a convective boundary layer, while the R91 model assumed neutral stability. Some of the differences between the model comparisons (for example the single case in Figure 6 where the ADMS and Briggs' plume rise calculations disagreed) seem to be attributable to this cause.

2.4 Maul et al (1996)

Maul et al (1996) carried out a study of dispersion models for Integrated Pollution Control for HMIP. The primary purpose of the study was to relate the Inspectorate's main integrated assessment tool at that time, the APPRAISE model (a multi-faceted model whose air dispersion component was essentially the R91 model), with both the ISCST2 (the BREEZE version), ADMS (version 1.5) and DISTAR (another R91 clone) models. Applications for authorisation were being submitted to the Inspectorate using all of these models and there was no guidance as to what differences might exist between them. The report discussed a wide variety of available dispersion models and the differences between them in some detail. It mainly concentrated on the five models noted above, especially in relation to the newer ADMS model and carried out a number of sample comparative calculations aimed at exposing any differences between them. It selected eighteen representative meteorological conditions and carried out dispersion calculations for the five models for buoyant and non-buoyant discharges from 20m and 200m discharge stacks. The calculations were all at relatively low wind speeds, of 1, 3 and 5 ms⁻¹.

The model calculations were mainly presented in tabular form. These are difficult to assimilate, but three sets of data were plotted and are reproduced in Figure 14. The plots are of concentration at a fixed distance of 10km (though the tabulated data also gives results for 1km distance), using the APPRAISE model data as a reference on the axis. The vertical scatter in data for the three other model results plotted essentially represents differences between them for fixed calculation conditions. The upper plot is for a 20m source height

without plume rise, the middle plot for a 20m source height with plume rise and the lower plot is for a 200m source height with plume rise. In the three plots most of the DISTAR model calculations are close to the 1:1 line, though there are some significant deviations. The ADMS calculations generally produced lower concentrations than APPRAISE and the BREEZE model produced both lower and higher concentrations. As the plotted concentrations were given at fixed distances, they do not show how the maximum values of the calculated concentrations compared. These are known from the earlier work discussed to vary considerably between models. Values are tabulated in the report and vary up to a factor of four. The report also discusses calculations of longer-term average concentrations, but these were estimated on a weighted basis using the single conditions previously calculated rather than using a year's hourly data.

In its conclusions, Maul et al's (1996) report discussed the differences between the models. It noted the importance of the plume rise calculation as well as the dispersion calculation to the ground level concentrations, and attributed differences between the APPRAISE and DISTAR models (both R91 based) to differences in the plume rise calculation. Though the BREEZE model is similar to R91, the precise dispersion rates and methods of accounting for surface roughness are not the same. Differences between the BREEZE model and the APPRAISE and DISTAR models were attributed mainly to this cause. Ground level concentrations calculated with these models generally agreed to within a factor of three. Differences between the ADMS model and the other models were attributed to different calculated rates of dispersion and other factors. The report noted the marked differences in dispersion behaviour between the other models and ADMS, which produced significantly more rapid vertical dispersion in convective conditions and reduced dispersion in stable This considerably altered the distances at which maximum ground level concentrations occurred. Overall the older models produced individual maximum concentrations which differed by up to a factor of three and with the inclusion of the ADMS model by up to a factor of four. Longer-term averages were generally more stable, being similar to one another within a factor of 2-3.

2.5 Harvey (1998)

Harvey (1998) showed some of the first inter-comparisons between the ADMS model (version 2.2) and the then newly available AERMOD models towards the end of 1998. Some of this work, related to building entrainment, is discussed later in this review. There has also been an unpublished presentation of some calculations of annual statistics for four examples of practical discharges, two of which were repeated using complex terrain (using only the AERMOD model). Since the results are not readily available the main data is reproduced here. Data for the four test cases is given in Table 3. They are for buoyant discharges from stacks of heights between 50m and 120m. In two cases there is a building, though too low to have greatly affected the calculation. Cases 2 and 4 were recalculated using complex terrain. The four cases were run using the relevant local meteorological data.

One representative set of Harvey's plotted data is shown in Figure 15, which gives contour maps for the two models of the annual average concentration and the maximum (100%ile) hourly concentration. Also shown in the figure is a plot of the maximum values of the different percentile concentrations. The annual average concentration contours for the two models are similar in character but not identical. The maximum values are of a similar order and in similar regions. The 100%ile contours for the two models both show multiple-lobed contour patterns radiating from the stack, but there are significant differences in both the

contour patterns and the values of the maxima. These multi-lobed patterns are a common feature of this sort of plot. They are to some extent an artefact of the model output, which gives constant concentrations over discrete arcs and this affects the contour mapping. The plot of maximum values of different percentile concentrations in the figure shows these differences clearly. Below the 99%ile the maximum concentrations of the AERMOD and ADMS model are similar, but the higher percentile values of the ADMS model increase markedly over those of the AERMOD model. Harvey's summary of his calculations is reproduced in Table 4. The differences between the model concentrations, divided by the mean values, have been added.

Table 3. Details of Harvey's (1998) four test cases.

Case No	1	2	3	4
Description	CCGT	Cement	Bio Fuel	CCGT
Stack Height(m)	70	120	50	55
Stack Diameter (m)	7	2.8	1.5	11.2
NO _x Emission (g s ⁻¹)	35	100	20	102
Discharge Velocity (m s ⁻¹)	17	24	21	25
Discharge Temperature (°C)	90	100	165	95
Building:				
X(m)	0	-	-33	-
Y(m)	0	-	16	
Length (m)	25	-	49	-
Width (m)	18	-	20	-
Height (m)	35	-	28	-
Angle (°)	0	-	337	-

Table 4. Summary data from Harvey's (1998) calculations.

Percentile	Model		Case N	umber	
Percentne	Model	1	2	3	4
	ADMS	142	123	267	222
100	AERMOD	31	114	234	62
	Difference	1.28	0.076	0.13	1.12
	ADMS	58	69	245	41
99.8	AERMOD	17	65	122	32
	Difference	1.09	0.05	0.67	0.25
	ADMS	25	54	204	35
99.5	AERMOD	15	51	101	27
	Difference	0.50	0.057	0.68	0.26
	ADMS	15	43	190	30
99	AERMOD	13	44	88	21
	Difference	0.143	-0.023	0.73	0.35
	ADMS	11	29	151	23
98	AERMOD	10	36	72	12
	Difference	0.095	-0.22	0.71	0.63
A	ADMS	0.66	1.56	7.55	1.47
Annual	AERMOD	0.64	2.12	5.69	0.9
Average	Difference	0.031	-0.30	0.28	0.48

It can be seen in Table 4 that, with one exception, the AERMOD model produced lower concentrations than the ADMS model in all cases. There is no consistent pattern of the differences with the percentile value, though the largest differences tend to occur at the higher percentiles.

2.6 American Petroleum Institute study (Hanna et al (1999a,b))

This study is still in progress at the time of writing this review and is presently probably the major recent model inter-comparison study. It comprises a comparative study of the ISC3. AERMOD and ADMS (version 3) models against five field data sets. Of the five data sets, three (Duke Forest, Kincaid and Indianapolis) were for flat terrain, one (OPTEX) involved building entrainment (in a refinery complex) and one (Lovett Field) topography. The Duke Forest and OPTEX cases had low level sources, the others had tall stacks. The draft report (Hanna et al (1999a)) contains full details of the work, but there have been further studies and revisions to this which have yet to be published. The conference paper (Hanna et al (1999b)) contains a description of the field data sets and the comparison method (using Hanna et al's BOOT procedures), with a summary of the overall conclusions. A brief summary of these is given below. The bulk statistics for the comparison (Hanna et al's (1999b) Table 1) is reproduced as Table 5.

OPTEX data set. This was the only data set involving severe building entrainment. One set of data used solid obstacles (oil tanks), while the other used the porous structure of the refinery plant. With the tank data, on average ISC3 over-predicted concentrations by about 15% while ADMS and AERMOD under-predicted by about 50%. However this mean value masked much larger variations in the near field, with differences up to a factor of eight, where building entrainment effects predominated. The mean model and field concentrations were usually within a factor of two.

With the porous plant structure all the models over-predicted maximum concentrations, ISC3 by a factor of 10, ADMS and AERMOD by a factor of 3. On average for this data set, ISC3 over-predicted by a factor of two, ADMS and AERMOD performed similarly, over-predicting by about 10%. The paper notes the problems of accounting for downwash behind porous structures in any of the models.

Duke Forest data set. This used low sources in a forest clearing with no obstructions. ISC tended to over-predict the measured concentrations (both mean and maximum) by about a factor of three, ADMS and AERMOD tended to under-predict, though by lesser amounts up to a factor of two, and had broadly similar performance.

Kincaid data set. This had 187m high sources in uniform low roughness terrain. All three models under-predicted the maximum concentration (by 30-50%) and only AERMOD predicted its position well. On average ADMS predicted the data set quite closely (within 3%), AERMOD under-predicted by about a factor of two and ISC3 by a factor of five. These average results include a high variability in the comparison, observations within a factor of two of the observed were 44% for ADMS, 29% for AERMOD and 12% for ISC3.

Indianapolis data set. This had an 84 m stack in rough (suburban) terrain. All three models predicted the maximum concentration fairly well, with some overprediction. All models under-predicted the distance of the maximum concentration (6km), ADMS and AERMOD by a substantial amount (0.5km and 1 km respectively). The quality of agreement depended on the source distance, with AERMOD and ISC tending to under-predict at short ranges and over-predict at long ranges. ADMS over-predicted at short ranges and under-predicted at intermediate ranges.

Lovett data set. This had a 145m stack in pronounced topography, rising 200m above the stack. This data set had been used previously as part of the AERMOD validation set, so this model was to some extent calibrated against the data. The ISC model overpredicted the maximum concentration by a factor of ten, AERMOD was very close (within 1%) and ADMS under-predicted by 40%. The report also noted biases in the data comparison. ADMS and AERMOD were within a factor of two of the field data for about 30% and 25% of the time respectively. There were a number of complications with this data set comparison besides the AERMOD model having used it for its basic validation. The version of ADMS used did not account for the terrain and the calculations are due to be repeated with the ADMS terrain module, FLOWSTAR. The ISC model defaulted to the EPA COMPLEX-1model which handles large terrain.

Overview of model evaluation results for ISCST3, ADMS and AERMOD for arc max¹ for the five field sites. From Hanna et al (1999b). Table 5.

	No.	Max	Maximu	Maximum Concentration	ıtration	Ge (or]	Geometric Mean (or Fractional Bias)	ean 3ias)	Geo (or	Geometric Variance (or Normal Mean Standard Error)	riance Iean ror)	Fracti	Fraction Within x2 of Observed	in x2 of d
Data Set	Samples	Concentration Observed	ISCST3	ADMS	AERMOD	ISCST3	ADMS	AERMOD	ISCST3	ADMS	AERMOD	ISCST3	ADMS	AERMOD
OPTEX (Tank)	10	3,080	25,850	1,121	1,091	0.86	2.12	2.47	2.8	3	4.4	0.8	0.8	0.7
OPTEX (Plant)	25	152	1,567	469	502	0.55	0.89	1.02	2.9	1.59	1.8	0.64	0.76	0.76
Duke Forest	89	468	1,660	440	251	0.32	1.41	1.830	11.6	1.7	2	0.17	0.63	0.53
Kincaid	473	319	175	211	152	$\frac{1.33}{\mathrm{FB}^2}$	-0.03 FB	0.75 FB	8.5 NMSE ³	0.7 NMSE	2.2 NMSE	0.13	0.59	0.29
Indianapo lis	TTT	5,379	6,780	5,736	6,076	0.85	1.14	1.54	6.8	5.6	13	0.49	0.42	0.39
Lovett	2,595	447	4,420	267	441	-1.68 FB	0.14 FB	-0.37 FB	46 NMSE	3.6 NMSE	3.6 NMSE	0.064	0.3	0.25

Maximum concentration within the lateral arc of measurement (Irwin(1997)). Fractional Bias.

Normal Mean Standard Error. Arc max: FB: NMSE:

Hanna et al produced two overall summary scores for the models as a means of producing a simple performance measure. The first, Table 6, was a summary score of relative performance between the models for the cases tested. The last line, of 'Best plus Middle' has been added here. The nature of this type of inter-comparison is that it involves high levels of variability and the differences between 'best' and 'middle' are to some extent notional.

Hanna et al (1999b) noted that the scores shown in Table 6 did not indicate the scale of the differences between the models, which could readily be small or large, so they provided some additional bulk performance measures. These were collected values of some BOOT statistical parameters for all the field data comparisons, reproduced as Table 7.

Hanna et al's conclusions from the study were that the two newer models, ADMS and AERMOD performed considerably better than the ISC3 model, but that the difference between the two newer models was less clear cut and their performance was of a similar order. Overall the ADMS model produced the highest scores in both Table 6 and Table 7, but the differences were not large in terms of the accuracy of this type of inter-comparison.

It is of interest that no model in the study was consistently good or bad and that all the models had a creditable performance for at least some of the data sets.

Table 6. Hanna et al (1999b) summary scores of model performance.

	ISC3	ADMS	AERMOD
Best	5	19	6
Middle	2	5	11
Worst	17	0	7
Best plus Middle	7	24	17

Table 7. Hanna et al (1999b) median performance measures for all the field data comparisons.

	ISC3	ADMS	AERMOD
MaxC _p /MaxC ₀	6.7	0.80	0.77
Geometric Mean	0.70	1.22	1.70
Geometric Variance	7.7	2.4	2.9
Fraction within x2	0.33	0.53	0.46

2.7 Comparisons involving building entrainment

Building entrainment effects are an important feature of many practical dispersion problems and comparison studies have been relatively rare. The ISC and AERMOD models do not have formal building entrainment corrections, relying on 'Flagpole Receptors' above the ground to provide upper bounds to concentrations at the ground due to building effects. The ISC SCREEN model (but not ISCST3) has an entrainment model and the newer EPA PRIME model deals with building entrainment, though it is not formally accepted for regulatory purposes. The ADMS model has a sophisticated building entrainment model.

Barrowcliffe and Harvey (1998) and Harvey and Obasaju (1999) have examined the relationship between the building entrainment corrections in the different models and wind tunnel data. Both papers used the same experimental data and Harvey and Obasaju compared both the ADMS and AERMOD models with it.

The experimental data is not discussed in any detail, but this does not directly affect the model inter-comparison. The main results of the study are shown in Figure 16. The data is for two practical test cases which were subject to wind tunnel model testing and which had relatively low stacks compared with the building. One case was a cement plant and the other a CCGT station. There are two plots for each case in Figure 16, the upper plots are for maximum concentrations at the ground for different stack heights in the absence of a building, the lower plots are for a fixed stack height with the building for the full circle of wind directions. Without the building neither the two models nor the wind tunnel data agreed, except for the higher stacks on the cement plant, when the two models gave closely similar results. With the building the ADMS model showed a strongly cyclic variation of concentration with wind direction which was only slightly reproduced by the wind tunnel data. Both the wind tunnel and AERMOD models predicted much lower concentrations than the ADMS model. The wind tunnel and AERMOD model concentrations were within the order of accuracy that might be expected of such a comparison.

Hanna's inter-comparison with the OPTEX field data set, with dispersion from a low source surrounded by refinery plant, is discussed in the previous section.

2.8 AERMOD evaluation inter-comparisons

During the course of development of the AERMOD model, the AERMIC Committee carried out validation studies to match the AERMOD model to field data and made further assessments against other field data and other models, especially the ISCST3 model. Most of this work was published in the committee's evaluation reports (Paine et al (1998) and Peters et al (1999)).

The first of these reports (Paine et al(1998)) covered a total of ten data sets with both flat and hilly terrain. The latter are considered in the next section. Results for two sets of the flat terrain data, quantile/quantile plots for Kincaid and Baldwin, both tall stack discharges, are shown in Figure 17. The Baldwin case also included a comparison with the HPDM model. In both cases AERMOD outperformed ISC on this basis. Though AERMOD tended to underestimate the lower predicted concentrations, it predicted higher concentrations relatively closely. The ISC model tended to under predict concentrations, though its performance similarly improved for higher concentrations.

The second report (Peters et al(1999)) covered direct intercomparisons between AERMOD ISC and CTDMPLUS (the complex terrain dispersion model). The intercomparison included a range of discharge heights (from near ground to 200m), discharge buoyancies (neutral and very buoyant), source types (point, volume and area sources) and terrain types (flat, gentle and complex). The terrain cases are discussed below. The dispersion calculations were run for two representative sets of hourly meteorological data for urban and rural sites respectively. Figures 18 and 19 show bar charted results from Peters et al for a range of test cases. Figure 18 shows flat terrain results for the range of stack heights in rural (the upper plots) and urban terrain (the lower plots). The stack heights increase from left to right across the pairs of plots. Figure 19 shows results for a single 35m stack height for the range of test conditions, including simple topography. Both sets of data are for point sources and show ratios of concentrations for AERMOD/ISC for the maximum hourly, 3 hourly, 24 hourly and annual means in sets for each test conditions. Both Figures show marked variations in calculated concentrations between the two models with different stack heights and test conditions. Figure 18 shows that both switching from rural to urban terrain and meteorology and passing from low to high stacks reversed the relationship between the models.

Generally, differences in calculated concentrations between the models, for any averaging period, were significant with about one third of the differences exceeding a factor of two either way. The smallest differences between the two models, shown clearly in Figure 19, occurred with the 35m stack height in urban terrain and meteorology.

2.9 Comparisons involving topography

Accounting for topography in dispersion is regarded as an important matter. However, there are few papers involving model inter-comparison. There appear to be only six studies in the public domain which consider the performance of AERMOD in conditions involving complex terrain. The authors of three of these are members of the AERMIC committee, responsible for the development of the AERMOD model. In the studies, AERMOD is either evaluated directly using measured data or compared with other models commonly used to predict pollutant dispersion over complex terrain. There are no specific studies of ADMS in relation to the other models involving dispersion over topography besides that in Hanna et al's (1999a,b) recent study, described above and Harvey's(1998) unpublished work.

AERMOD has been designed to handle both flat and complex terrain within the same framework. It incorporates more current concepts about flow and dispersion in complex terrain which in this respect makes it more sophisticated than ISCST3, the existing USEPA regulatory model. ISCST3 uses the complex terrain screening algorithm, COMPLEX1, only to account for terrain effects. However, AERMOD is less complicated than CTDMPLUS, the refined regulatory model for complex terrain, and has been developed specifically to require less detailed meteorological and terrain inputs. AERMOD has been compared to both CTDMPLUS and ISCST3 (also referred to as COMPLEX1 below) in several studies (Garrison and Sherwell (1997), Paine et al (1998), Peters et al (1999), Venkatram et al (1998)).

Garrison and Sherwell (1997) considered developmental versions of AERMOD (1 to 4) and, in fact, it would appear that the finalised version of AERMOD considered in the present study is a combination of versions 3 and 4 (i.e. the terrain weighting factor has a minimum of 0.5 and height scales are calculated for each receptor). This illustrates one of the main problems with the assessment of dispersion models; they are constantly subject to change. However, a number of general points can be made from the report. Firstly AERMOD represents an improvement on COMPLEX1 because it responds better to continuously changing meteorological conditions. When maximum overall concentrations were considered (i.e. no spatial discrimination), for a given set of meteorological conditions, then the results of AERMOD and CTMPLUS were comparable. When the ability of the models to replicate the flow physics was examined it was found that AERMOD did not allow the plume to wrap around the terrain in the same way as CTDMPLUS.

The EPA model evaluation study (Paine et al 1998) used data from one dependent (Lovett, used in the AERMOD developmental model evaluation) and four independent complex terrain sites. The results are presented as the ratio of modelled/observed robust highest concentrations and quantile-quantile plots, both of which pair-ranked modelled and observed concentrations in value order, but which are unpaired in time and space. Hence the effect of particular terrain conditions on the overall distribution of concentrations is not considered and no account is taken of model physics in the assessment. The quantile-quantile plots for four of the site comparisons is shown in Figure 20. The results indicate that AERMOD performed better than ISCST3 but, more surprisingly, also out-performed CTDMPLUS, mainly underpredicting both models.

Since real field data were used in the evaluation, one factor, in addition to the assessment method, may be the relative inaccuracy of the detailed input data required by CTDMPLUS. The quantile-quantile approach was also employed to compare ISCST2, AERMOD and CTDMPLUS using the Lovett data set (Venkatram et al (1998)) and, again, AERMOD produced the best results and ISCST2 the worst. The importance of highest concentrations for regulatory purposes may explain the assessment methods applied in these studies.

Peters et al's study also included the effects of terrain and Figure 19 shows some examples for their 'simple' terrain. This study also included a larger range of more severe 'complex' terrain cases. No results of this study are shown here, but the AERMOD model produced consistently lower concentrations at the ground than ISC under almost all circumstances, in the great majority of cases by more than a factor of two.

2.10 Papers from the HARMO99 Conference

This conference has generated several papers containing model comparison data. Hanna et al's (1999b) paper has been discussed previously, but three other papers are of interest here.

Hill et al (1999) presented results of a comparison between the R91 and ADMS model in calculating dispersion over the UK BNFL Sellafield Reprocessing Site against measurements using a Krypton-85 tracer. This is discharged from two stacks of 122 and 125 m height in the plant at safe radiological levels, but makes a good tracer even at these low concentrations. The site was well instrumented meteorologically and care was taken to assess the atmospheric stability adequately using two different methods (eddy correlation and flux profile). About 70 tracer samples were taken from three sites around the plant over 24 hour periods. About 80% of the measurements were in neutrally stable atmospheres. Figure 21 shows the main results of the work, modelled against calculated concentrations for the two models. Table 8 shows the calculated BOOT statistics for the two comparisons.

Table 8. BOOT statistics for R91 and ADMS model inter-comparison with field data from the Sellafield Site. From Hill et al(1999).

Model	Normal Mean Standard Error	Mean Bias	Correlation (R ²)	Within factor of Two %	Within factor of Five %	Within factor of Ten %
R91	5.05	2.79	16	34	62	75
ADMS	10.31	4.58	11	35	56	73

Figure 21 shows only limited differences between the model comparisons, which Table 8 largely confirms. The R91 model showed the lower levels of mean bias and normal mean standard error. The level of agreement between the models and the field data is comparable to other studies described here. Hill et al concluded that it made little difference which model was used in this application. They also noted that the ADMS model tended to produce a maximum concentration nearer the source than R91, in common with other comparisons. The relative agreement between these two models in this case may be due to the relatively high frequency of neutral stability as the major differences between the two models appear to be in stable and unstable conditions.

A comparative study of the ADMS, OML and ISCST3 models and a local model (MADAM-MP) for a power plant discharge (from a 250m stack) was described by Kanevce et al (1999).

These were compared with 24-hour mean measurements of SO₂ recorded around the plant. The calculations were carried out in 24 one-hourly batches, to match the monitoring data and good surface meteorological data was available from a nearby source, 10km from the plant. However, there was a shortage of upper air data and boundary layer depths, though this is not unusual for modelling data. A feature of the local meteorology was the high frequency of low wind speeds, below 1ms⁻¹, about 45% of the time. It was also estimated that the boundary layer was below the stack for about 50% of the time. Figure 22 shows scatter and quantile/quantile plots of the three model/data comparisons and Figure 23 shows comparisons of the three model calculations and the four monitoring site concentrations on a daily basis. The relation between observed and calculated concentrations seems tenuous in many cases. No bulk statistics for the comparisons were given. The conclusion of the study was that, considering the lack of mixing height data, the frequency of very low wind speeds and the low ground level SO₂ concentrations measured, the general standard of all the model calculations was good. This seems a slightly optimistic view. Overall the ISC model using the local meteorological pre-processor appeared to give the best results, though occasionally over-predicting concentrations. The OML model followed the trend of the data but tended to under-predict and the ADMS model followed the trend of the data but produced occasional predictions of high concentration when levels at the ground were low.

McHugh et al(1999) also described an inter-comparison between the ADMS 3, and the USEPA AERMOD and ISCST models, using the Kincaid, Indianapolis and Praire Grass data The main purpose of the paper was to examine differences between two validation methodologies, the 'Maximum Arcwise Concentration' (MAC) procedure of Olesen's Model Validation Kit ('MVK', Olesen(1995)), as originally laid down by Hanna et al (1991) and a more recently developed ASTM 'Near Centreline Concentration' ('NCC', (Irwin (1997), Irwin and Rosu (1998)) procedure. McHugh et al remarked that results from the two analysis procedures will not be the same; NCC values derived from the field data will be lower than MAC data thus directly affecting any validation study. In some ways the differences between the two procedures appear statistically arcane and are only likely to be significant when there are high levels of scatter in the original data (which there is). For better-ordered data the differences would not be large. Besides comparing validation methods, the use of three models in this study also effectively provided a model inter-comparison. Figure 24, a composite of McHugh et al's figures, shows the fractional bias of the data comparison (from the Model Validation Kit, using Hanna's BOOT statistics) for the three data sets used, plotted against the 'Regime Number' (the 29 regimes defined in the ASTM methodology). McHugh et al remark that a value of the Fractional Bias of 2 means no correlation, a value of 1 means agreement within a factor of three of the field data and a value of 0.67 agreement within a factor of two. It can be seen that, on this basis, the level of comparison between the three models and with the field data is very variable. ADMS and AERMOD generally follow similar trends in the data with the ISCST3 model showing greater differences from the other two models. Some values of the comparison statistics are shown in Table 9. These are restricted here to the mean values and the Fractional Bias as only the latter figure is given for the ASTM data using MAC.

Table 9. Comparison Statistics for ADMS, AERMOD and ISCST3 against three sets of field data. From McHugh et al (1999).

Field Data	Statistic	Observations	ADMS		AERM	OD	ISCST3	
			MVK	MAC	MVK	MAC	MVK	MAC
Kincaid	Mean	54.3	51.7		21.8		30	
Quality 3	FB	0	-0.051	0.46	0.86	0.49	0.58	1.99
Indianapolis	Mean	260	270		230		400	
	FB	0	-0.029	0.52	0.14	0.34	-0.44	0.87
Praire	Mean	2.14	1.2		2.14		2.01	
Grass	FB	0	0.57	0.56	0	0.40	0.064	0.94

Positive Fractional Bias indicates overestimation and negative Fractional Bias underestimation against the reference field data. It can be seen from the Table that estimates of Fractional Bias from the two analytical techniques are dissimilar except in one case. It can also be seen that the values of Fractional Bias published for the Kincaid data set used by both McHugh et al and by Hanna et al (shown in Table 5) are dissimilar. It has not been possible here to determine the cause of this difference, but Hanna et al's values are bracketed by the MVK and MAC values in Table 9. It appears that the method of calculating this statistic can considerably alter the apparent performance of the models. Table 9 shows a confusing pattern of model differences and the comparison overall is somewhat inconclusive. With the Kincaid data, AERMOD and ISCST3 are closer to one another than to ADMS, which appears, however, to be closer to the field data. With the Indianapolis data, ADMS and AERMOD are closer to one another than to ISCST3, except using the MAC Fractional Bias estimates. ADMS is the better fit to the field data using MVK statistics, but AERMOD is closer using the MAC statistics. With the Praire Grass Data (which, McHugh et al note, was used to calibrate the AERMOD model) AERMOD and ISCST3 are closer to one another (and to the field measurements) than to ADMS.

3. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

In terms of the quantity of data presented here, most of the studies discussed here involve comparisons with field experiments. It was noted in the introduction that, though clearly very important, these are essentially a validation process which, because of the inherently high level of variability in such data, can only mainly indicate differences between models in terms of the bulk statistical parameters of the data fit. Though these can be aimed at specific dispersion problems, buoyant discharges from tall stacks or topography for example, they do not readily reveal why differences between model calculations occur. Thus with buoyant discharges from tall stacks, for example, it is not immediately clear whether differences between model calculations are due to differences in basic rates of dispersion, plume rise or in procedures used for interaction with, and plume penetration of, the top of the boundary layer. In order to do this, the differences between models need to be examined in a systematic way designed to reveal the effect of each operational parameter. Jones et al (1995) have made the best attempt at this, and both Bugg (1995) and Maul et al (1996) have made significant contributions. None have covered all the relevant modelling parameters and all have been limited in scope. All have been concerned with relatively early versions of the ADMS model and there have been no studies of this type since.

Only two recent studies, that of Hanna et al (1999a,b) and of McHugh et al (1999) compare the ADMS and AERMOD models against an older (ISC model), using field data. Only one other, brief and unpublished, study by Harvey (1998) looks directly at differences between the ADMS and AERMOD models. The other studies compare either the ADMS or AERMOD models with older models.

All the studies discussed here, from the work of Jones et al and of Bugg onwards, show that there are quite substantial differences between concentrations calculated by all the models of interest here. Maul et al showed that even the R91 and ISC models, nominally based on the same fundamental dispersion characteristics, showed differences in calculated concentration up to a factor of two. Both Bugg and Maul have also shown that nominally similar realisations of the same model can have substantial differences. They noted the importance of the choice of plume rise model (even of different realisations of, for example, the Briggs plume rise model) and its effect in markedly modifying concentrations at the ground.

The inter-comparison studies generally show some common conclusions. Differences between the newer ADMS and AERMOD models and the older R91 and ISC models are generally greater in stably and unstably stratified boundary layers than in neutral stability. ADMS and AERMOD tend to produce more rapid vertical dispersion in unstable flows, with the point of maximum ground level concentration moving more rapidly towards the source, and reduced vertical dispersion in stable flows, with the point of maximum ground level concentration moving further away from the source. This difference appears to be especially marked with the ADMS model, where several reports note the very rapid contact of airborne plumes with the ground in unstable flows. It appears that this feature of the ADMS model may have been modified through different versions. Hill et al's (1999) study indicated very little difference between ADMS and R91 model predictions of a set of field measurements mainly in neutral stability. However, Jones et al's earlier systematic studies showed their version of the ADMS model predicting steadily greater differences in ground level concentration from the R91 model as the atmospheric stability passed from unstable to stable, but with marked differences in the position of the maximum. Thus their predicted concentrations at the ground were closer in unstable than in neutral boundary layers. With the addition of plume buoyancy these differences tended to diminish. They and other authors have commented that, in some cases in stable flows, airborne plumes calculated with the ADMS model do not reach the ground in the near field. Studies using field data have shown that the AERMOD and ADMS models are overall a better fit to the data than the older R91 and ISC models. Plume rise calculations in all the models except ADMS seem to have converged on the Briggs model. The ADMS model uses a complex recursive procedure in which the plume rise is (as in principle it should be) dependent on the rate of dispersion. However, in the only direct comparison, by Carruthers et al, it appeared with one exception to give results little different from Briggs. In this exception the differences probably arose from differences in the calculated wind profile rather than in the plume rise calculation.

Only Hanna (1999a,b) and Harvey (1998) have directly examined differences between the ADMS and AERMOD models. Hanna found that overall the ADMS model was a better fit to the field data he used, but the difference was small within the order of accuracy of such comparisons. Harvey examined only a few calculations with annual hourly data (an important practical application) and found only limited differences between either the level or shape of annual average concentration contours.

However, there were much larger differences in both the distribution and level of shorter-term statistical parameters, for which there is a regulatory need. The use of annual hourly statistics in inter-comparisons seems quite rare, despite their regulatory importance.

A critical theme running though the different inter-comparison exercises is the importance of the way in which meteorological data is assessed and the attribution of parameters critical to dispersion, especially stability (Monin-Obukhov length scale), boundary layer height and surface roughness. This applies particularly to stability parameters and especially to the Pasquill/Gifford stability categories, where the attribution of the next higher or lower stability category alters calculated plume calculations, typically by a factor of 2.5-3. This is within the bounds of many of the differences found in the studies described here. The attribution of meteorological parameters is not a precise matter. For example, the same data fed into the AERMOD and ADMS model meteorological pre-processors will not yield the same boundary layer parameters for dispersion modelling. It is questionable to what degree differences between dispersion calculations in these models may be due to this cause; the matter has never been investigated. There is a good case for separating these two parts of a model in investigating its behaviour. In analysing field data there are additional complications as different methods of assessing boundary layer parameters commonly yield markedly different predictions. Carruthers et al remark on one example where ground based parameters indicated neutral stability while the boundary layer at higher levels appeared to be unstable. These problems are in part due to the boundary layer commonly being in a state of disequilibrium.

The reported investigations of building entrainment are by Jones et al (1995), Harvey and Obasaju (1999), Barrowcliffe and Harvey (1998) and one case by Hanna et al (1999a,b). All show major differences in calculated concentrations in the near field where building entrainment of the plume is important. In fact only the R91 model, the SCREEN version of ISC and ADMS have formal building entrainment models. The ISC and AERMOD models only calculate an enhanced dispersion starting at some distance from the building. This does not seem a very satisfactory state for an important practical dispersion problem. However, the USEPA PRIME model does attempt to account for building downwash more effectively (though it has not yet generated any inter-comparison studies). Jones et al's studies showed marked differences between the R91 and ADMS building entrainment models, with the ADMS model showing large fluctuations in concentration in the near field behind the building, as did Harvey and Obasaju (1999) and Barrowcliffe and Harvey (1998). It is possible under some circumstances, where there is partial entrainment of an elevated plume in a building wake, for there to be a perturbation in the downwind concentration distribution. However, that shown by these examples seems excessive. There have been some recent changes in the ADMS building entrainment model, but their effects on this behaviour are not known.

Comparative studies of the effects of topography seem to be limited to comparisons with field data, by Paine et al (1999) (who compared AERMOD and ISC) and by Hanna et al (1999a,b). There are no systematic studies of the effect of different types of topography on dispersion behaviour. Only the ADMS model calculates a modified topographic flow field and then the modified dispersion pattern over it. ISC uses a form of 'flagpole' receptor and AERMOD has an improved 'flagpole' type of calculation (Venkatram et al (1998)) which also accounts for the probability of a plume in a stable atmosphere passing over or around a hill. Hanna et al used the Lovett field data, against which AERMOD had been validated and against which it was by far the best performer.

The inter-comparison studies described here cover approximately the last six years, no significant earlier work having been found involving the ADMS model. The AERMOD model has been in its final release version (from Trinity Consultants) for only about 18 months, though available in various developmental formats earlier. Allowing for the repetition of presentation of the same work, there are essentially ten separate studies reported on here of the differences between the four models of interest, ISC, R91, ADMS and AERMOD. Of what might be considered the most substantial studies (those of Jones et al (1995), Carruthers et al (1996), Paine et al (1998), Peters et al (1999), Hanna et al (1999a,b) and McHugh et al (1999)), two were carried out by the developers of the AERMOD model and two (one partially) by the developers of the ADMS model. In one of the others it appears that a substantial proportion of the calculations were carried out by the developers of their respective models. Of the remaining inter-comparison reports, most are concerned with the use of different models in practical applications and directly reflect the problems that can arise from differences between model calculations. Only one of the reports on the ten studies (the shortform by Carruthers et al (1996)) has been subject to independent peer review and formal publication. About half are not formally open publications.

In the period since the first appearance of the ADMS model (around 1991/2) there have been no significant changes to the R91 or ISC models and the AERMOD model has been issued only recently in essentially a single final form, though there were some variant development versions. The ADMS model has been re-issued in approaching ten different versions during this time. Most of these are known to have involved changes to the model code but there have been no indications during this period as to how these changes might affect the resultant dispersion calculations. The only published study seems to be the recent work of Hall and Spanton (1999), who looked at differences between two different recent versions of ADMS (versions 2.2 and 3) in relation to the use of different meteorological data. This paper has not been subject to peer review either.

Considering the practical importance of differences between model calculations in a regulatory regime and the substantial changes in investment and operational practice that may hinge on them, the relatively casual way in which this has been treated in the UK appears surprising. There seem to have been no freely published, independent, disinterested studies of the differences between models or versions of models. The US EPA does not permit new versions of its models to be used until they have been subject to independent critical testing, the results of which are published (Schultze (1999)). The same attitude could usefully apply in the UK. There is a clear need for systematic examination of the behaviour of dispersion models and of the differences between them in an open and disinterested manner. The lack of this in the past has, in the authors' view, hampered a clear understanding of model behaviour, the effective development of improved models and their use in regulatory applications in an intelligent way.

This is perhaps more surprising of UK practice in view of the UK Royal Meteorological Society's Policy Statement on Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling (R Met Soc(1995)). This document discusses with some acumen the requirements of effective use and development of dispersion models, including the need for 'Quality Assurance' and 'Auditability' of models and data derived from their use. It also draws attention to the responsibilities that fall on the various interested parties (including the regulatory authorities and the providers and users of modelling services) to actively promote best practice. Its appearance coincides quite closely with the start of the period covered by this review.

It is apparent from the work reported here that there is still much scope for the adoption of the guidelines and principles proposed in the policy statement.

4. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by the Environment Agency's National Centre for Risk Analysis and Options Appraisal under National Research Contract P4-078 (AERMOD). The opinions expressed in the report are solely those of the authors and not of the Environment Agency.

Thanks are due to the members of the project steering committee (Roger Timmis, Colin Powlesland, Betty Ng, David Bugg, Rob Varey and Bernard Fisher) for their helpful contributions to the work. Additional thanks are due to Rob Varey for his considerable assistance with preparing the report for publication.

5. REFERENCES

- Barker C D, 1982. The application of the virtual source entrainment model in nuclear safety calculations. UK Central Electricity Generating Board, Report No. RD/B/5238/N82.
- Barrowcliffe R and Harvey D J, 1998. *A comparison of the performance of ADMS and a wind tunnel at simulating ground level concentrations in building wakes using two real regulatory examples*. Proceedings of 5th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21 May, pp219-226.
- Bruce-Turner D, 1994. *Workbook of Atmospheric Dispersion Estimates*. Lewis Publishers. ISBN 1-56670 023 X.
- Bugg D G, 1995. Development and evaluation of graphical and other methods for interpretation of atmospheric dispersion and air-pollutant plume trajectories and ground level impact. MSc Thesis, Dept of Chemical Engineering, UMIST, Manchester, October 1995.
- Carruthers D J, Holroyd R J, Hunt J C R, Weng W S, Robins A G, Apsley D D, Thompson D J and Smith F B, 1994. *UK-ADMS: A new approach to modelling dispersion in the earth's atmospheric boundary layer*. J. Wind Engineering and Industrial Aerodynamics, 52,139-153.
- Carruthers D J, Edmunds H A, Bennett M, Woods P T, Milton M J T, Robinson R, Underwood B Y and Franklin C J, 1996. *Validation of the UK-ADMS dispersion model and assessment of its performance relative to R91 and ISC using archived LIDAR data*. DoE/HMIP Report No. DoE/HMIP/RR/95/022.
- Carruthers D J, Edmunds H A, Bennett M, Woods P T, Milton M J T, Robinson R, Underwood B Y, Franklin C J, and Timmis R J, 1997. *Validation of the ADMS dispersion model and assessment of its performance relative to R91 and ISC using archived LIDAR data*. Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Ostend, Belgium, 6-9 May, 1996. Published in Int J. of Environment and Pollution, 8, 264-278.
- Clarke R H, 1979. A model for short and medium range dispersion of radionuclides released to the atmosphere. National Radiological Protection Board, Report No R91.
- Cosemans G and Maes G, 1995. *The Workshop on Operational Short-Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe*. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November, 1994. Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol 5, Nos 4-6.
- DoE, 1996. *The United Kingdom National Air Quality Strategy*. Consultation Draft. UK Department of the Environment, 96 DPL 0019A.
- Garrison and Sherwell 1997. *Evaluation of the AMS/EPA regulatory model (AERMOD) complex terrain algorithms*. Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 90th Annual Meeting & Exhibition. Toronto, Canada. June 8-13. Conference code 48211, Paper 97-WA69.02.
- Golder, 1972. *Relations among stability parameters in the surface layer*. Boundary Layer Meteorology, 3, 47-58.
- Hall D J and Spanton A M, 1999. Meteorological data and dispersion modelling.

- Clean Air, Volume 29, September/October 1999.
- Hall D J, Spanton A M, Bennett M, Dunkerley F, Griffiths R F, Fisher B E A and Timmis R J, 1999. *Evaluation of new generation atmospheric dispersion models*. Proceedings of 6th International Conferences on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modeling for Regulatory Purposes. Rouen, France, 11-14th October, 1999. To be published in Int J of Environment and Pollution.
- Hanna S R, Strimiatis D G and Chang J C, 1991. *Evaluation of commonly used hazardous gas dispersion models*. SIGMA Research Corporation Report.
- Hanna S R, Egan B A, Purdum J and Wagler J, 1999a. *Evaluation of ISC3, AERMOD and ADMS dispersion models with observations from five field sites*. Hanna Consultants, Report No P020.
- Hanna S R, Egan B A, Purdum J and Wagler J, 1999b. *Evaluation of ISC3, AERMOD and ADMS dispersion models with the Optex, Duke Forest, Kincaid, Indianapolis and Lovett Field Data Sets.* Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.
- Harvey D J and Obasaju E D, 1999. Accuracy of techniques for modelling the effects of building downwash on the dispersion of emissions to the atmosphere. Clean Air, Volume 29, March/April, 1999.
- Harvey D J, 1998. *AERMOD and ADMS Compared*. Overheads from a Presentation to an Environment Agency Workshop, 27 Oct 1998.
- Hill R A, Lowles I, Teasdale I, Chambers N, Puxley C and Parker T, 1999. *Comparison between field measurements of 85-Kr around the BNFL Sellafield Site reprocessing plant and the predictions of the NRPB R-91 and UK-ADMS atmospheric dispersion models*. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.
- Irwin J S, 1997. Standard practice for statistical evaluation of atmospheric dispersion models. Draft ASTM Designation Z6849Z. ASTM, 100 Barr Harbor Drive, West Conshohocken, PA 9428-2959, USA.
- Irwin J S and Rosu M H, 1998. *Comments on a Draft Practice for Statistical Evaluation of Atmospheric Dispersion Models*. Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. pp6-10.
- Jones J A, 1983. Models to allow for the effects of coastal sites, plume rise and buildings on dispersion of radionuclides and guidance on the value of deposition velocity and washout coefficients. National Radiological Protection Board, UK. Report No R157.
- Jones J A, Mayall A, Cooper P J and Davies T, 1995. *Comparison of the ADMS and R91 atmospheric dispersion models*. National Radiological Protection Board, Report No M572.
- Kanevce G, Kanevce Lj. and Markoski A, 1999. *Estimation of the air quality impact of the Bitola Power Plant*. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.

- Kretschmar J and Cosemans G, 1997. *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes*. Ostend, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 8 Nos 3-6.
- Maul P R, Fisher B E A and Bushell S D, 1996. *Atmospheric dispersion models for Integrated Pollution Control*. QuantiSci Report No IM4304-2, Version 2.
- McHugh C A, Carruthers D J, Higson H and Dyster S J, 1999. *Comparison of model evaluation methodologies, with application to ADMS3 and US models.* Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.
- Olesen H R, 1995. *Datasets and protocol for model validation*. Kit for the Workshop on 'Operational Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessments in Europe'. Prepared for the Workshop on Operational Short Range Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November 1994. Int J of Environment and Pollution, 5, 693-701.
- Paine R J, Lee R F, Brode R, Wilson R B, Cimorelli A J, Perry S G, Weil J C, Venkatram A and Peters W D, 1998. *Model evaluation results for AERMOD*. USEPA Draft Document, Dec 17th 1998.
- Peters W D, Paine R J, Wilson R B, Cimorelli A J, Perry S G, Weil J C, Venkatram A (1999). *Comparison of Regulatory Design Concentrations: AERMOD Versus ISCST3 and CTDMPLUS.* EPA Web site, www.epa.gov/scramm001.
- R Met Soc, 1995. Atmospheric dispersion modelling. Guidelines on the justification and use of models, and the communicating of results. Policy Statement Issued by the Council of the Royal Meteorological Society in Collaboration with the UK Dept of the Environment. May 1995.
- Schultze R H, 1999. *Procedures used by US Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) to develop and adopt newer dispersion models*. Proceedings of 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.
- Venkatram A, Weil J C, Cimorelli A, Lee R, Perry S, Wilson R and Paine R, 1998.

 **AERMOD's simplified algorithm for dispersion in complex terrain. American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology), 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. Paper 5B.1, pp212-214.

APPENDIX A. Bibliography of ISC/ADMS/AERMOD/R91 Validation and Inter-comparison Papers

The papers are entered in author alphabetical order with the following annotations:

- A A study involving AERMOD
- I A study involving ISC, SCREEN or any other of the older EPA models.
- D A study involving an ADMS model.
- R A study involving the NRPB R91 model.
- E A study involving small-scale experimental data, usually from wind tunnels.
- F A study involving field experimental data.
- B A study, not necessarily a direct inter-comparison, offering some insight into model behaviour useful for inter-comparison purposes.
- DFE Anon (1995)

ADMS Validation.

CERC report, no reference.

DE R. Barrowcliffe, D. G. Harvey.(1998).

A Comparison of the Performance of ADMS and a Wind Tunnel at Simulating Ground Level Concentrations in Building Wakes Using Two real Regulatory Examples.

Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. Pp 219-226.

DF M. Bennett, G. C. Hunter (1997).

Some Comparisons of Lidar Estimates of Peak Ground Level Concentrations with the Predictions of ADMS.

Atmospheric Environment, Vol. 31, No. 3, pp429-439.

N.E. Bowne, R.J. Londegran. (1983).

Overview Results and Conclusions for the EPRI Plume Model Validation and Development Project: Plains Site.

EPRI Report No. EA-3074. Available from Electric Power Research Institute, 3412 Hillview Avenue, PO Box 10412, Palo Alto CA 94303, USA.

M Boznar, G. Brusasca, C. Caviacchioli, P. Faggian, S Finardi, M, Minella, P Mlakar,, R Sozzi, (1994).

Model Evaluation and Application of Advanced and Traditional Gaussian Models on the Experimental Sostanj (Slovenia, 1991) Campaign.

Proceedings of the Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced Practical Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Manno, 1993. Cuvelier (Editor). Pp 112-121.

M Boznar, G. Brusasca, C. Caviacchioli, P. Faggian, S Finardi, P Mlakar, M Morselli, R. Sozzi, G. Tinarelli.(1994)

Application of Advanced and Traditional Diffusion Models to an Experimental Campaign in Complex Terrain.

Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Air Pollution, Barcelona, 1994, Air Pollution II. Volume 1. Editors J.M.Bassano et al. Southampton, Boston. Computational Mechanics Publ, pp159-166, 1994.

B Briggs, J.E. Eberhard, W.R. Gaynor, ? Moninger, T. Uttal.

Convective Diffusion Field Measurements Compared with Laboratory and Numerical Experiments.

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology. November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper No13.6, pp340-343

AF R. P. Brower, L. A. Corio, J. Sherwell. (1996)

Evaluation of the AMS/EPA Regulatory Model (AERMOD) Using Maryland Power Plant Field Data.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 89th Annual Meeting and Exhibition, Nashville TN USA, June 23-28. Conference Code 46962. paper No 96-TP24B.05

A R. P. Brower, L. A. Corio, M. E. Garrison, J. Sherwell.(1998).

Evaluation of the AMS/EPA Regulatory Model Improvement Committee Model (AERMOD).

American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. AMA Paper 9B.7. Proceedings pp565-569.

A R. P. Brower, L. A. Corio, M. E. Garrison, J. Sherwell.(1998).

Evaluation of the Phase II AMS/EPA Regulatory Model Improvement Committee Model (AERMOD).

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Associations's 91st Annual Meeting and Exhibition. June 14-18, San Diego, California, USA. Paper No. 98-RA76B.07.

R D. G. Bugg(1995).

Development and Evaluation of Graphical and Other Methods for Interpretation of Atmospheric Dispersion and Anti-Pollutant Plume Trajectories and Ground Level Impact.

MSc Thesis, Environmental technology Centre, Chemical Engineering Dept. UMIST.

- DB D.J. Carruthers, J.C.R. Hunt, W.S. Weng(1988).
 A Computational Model of Stratified Turbulent Airflow Over Hills FLOWSTAR 1.
 Proceedings of Envirosoft. In 'Computer Techniques in Environmental Studies'
 (Editor P Zanetti), pp481-492. Springer-Verlag.
- D.J. Carruthers, R.J. Holroyd, J.C.R. Hunt, A.G. Robins, D.D. Apsley, F.B Smith, D.J. Thomson.(1990).
 Developments in Modelling Air Pollution for Regulatory Purposes.
 Proceedings of the 18th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and its Application, Vancouver, Canada.
- D.J. Carruthers, R.J. Holroyd, J.C.R. Hunt, W-S Weng, A.G. Robins, D.D. Apsley, F.B. Smith, D.J. Thompson, B Hudson.(1992).
 UK Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling System.
 Proceedings of the 19th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and its Application. September 1991, Crete, Greece Air Pollution Modelling and its Application IX. (Edited by H Van Dop and George Kallos). Plenum Publishing Corporation, New York 1992.
- D.J. Carruthers, C.A. McHugh, A.G. Robins, D.J. Thompson, B. Davies, M Montgomery. (1993a).
 UK Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling System Validation Studies.
 Proceedings of the 20th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and its Applications,
 Air Pollution Models and its Application X, Gryning and Millar (Eds). Plenum Press, New York (1994).
- D.J. Carruthers, C. A. McHugh, A.G. Robins, B.M. Davies, D.J. Thomson, M.R. Montgomery(1993b).
 The UK Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling System: Comparisons with Data from Kincaid, Lillesstrom and Copenhagen.
 In Cuvelier(Ed). Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced, Practical, Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Manno, Sept 1993. Joint Research Centre (European Commission for Safety Technology. EUR 15603 EN.
- DF D.J. Carruthers, M. Brown, C McHugh (1993c)
 UK-ADMS Validation Studies Continuous Releases Over Flat Terrain.
 CERC Document UK-ADMS P10/D1/93.
- DB D.J. Carruthers, R.J. Holroyd, J.C.R. Hunt, W.S. Weng, A.G. Robins, D.D. Apsley, D.J. Thompson, F.B. Smith.(1994).
 UK-ADMS: A New Approach to Modelling Dispersion in the Earth's Atmospheric Boundary layer.
 J. Wind Engineering and Industrial Aerodynamics, Vol 52, pp139-153.

DF D.J. Carruthers, C. A. McHugh, A.G. Robins, B.M. Davies, D.J. Thomson,(1995) The Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling System (ADMS): Comparisons with Data from the Kincaid Experiment.

Proceedings of the Workshop on Operational Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, Nov 21-24 1994

Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol 5 Nos4-6, 1995, pp382-400...

DF D. J. Carruthers, H. A. Edmunds, K. L. Ellis, C. A. McHugh, B. M. Davies, D. J. Thompson.(1995).

Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling System (ADMS): Comparisons with Data from the Kincaid Experiment.

Proceedings of the Workshop on Operational Short-range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, Nov 21-24, 1994.

Published in Int. J. of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5, Nos 4-6, pp382-400.

- DIRF D. J. Carruthers, H. A. Edmunds, M. Bennett, P. T. Woods, M. J. T. Milton, R. Robinson, B. Y. Underwood, C. J. Franklin(1996).
 Validation of the UK-ADMS Dispersion Model and Assessment of its Performance relative to R91 and ISC using Archived LIDAR Data, DoE/HMIP Report No. DoE/HMIP/RR/95/022.
- DRIF D. J. Carruthers, H. A. Edmunds, M. Bennett, P. T Woods, M. J. T Milton, R. Robinson, B. Y. Underwood, C. J. Franklin, R. Timmis.(1997).
 Validation of the ADMS Dispersion Model and Assessment of its Performance relative to R-91 and ISC Using Archived LIDAR Data.
 Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J. of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 8. Nos. 3-6, pp 264-278.
- B D. J. Carruthers, H. A. Edmunds, C. A. McHugh, P. J. Riches, R. J. Singles.(1997). ADMS-Urban. An Integrated Air Quality Modelling System for Local Government. Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Air Pollution, AIR POLLUTION V, Bologna, Italy, Sept 16-18. Pp 45-58.
- DF D.J. Carruthers, S, Dyster, C.A. McHugh, (1998) Contrasting Methods for Validating ADMS Using the Indianapolis Dataset. Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. Pp 104-110.
- D.J. Carruthers, H.A. Edmunds, A.E. Lester, C.A. McHugh, R.J. Singles(1998).
 Use and Validation of ADMS Urban in Contrasting Urban and Industrial Locations.
 Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric
 Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. Pp 429-436

- DE D.J. Carruthers, A.M. Mckeown, D. J. Hall, S.J. Porter(1999).
 Validation of ADMS Against Wind Tunnel Data of Dispersion from Chemical Warehouse Fires.
 Atmospheric Environment Vol 33, pp1937-1953.
- A.J. Cimorelli, S.G. Perry, A. Venkatram, J.C. Weil, R.J. Paine, R. F. Lee, W.D. Peters, R.B. Wilson.(1996).
 Current Progress in the AERMIC Model Development Programme.
 Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 89th Annual Meeting, Nashville Tennessee, June 23-28th. Paper No 96-TP24B.04.
- A.J. Cimorelli, S.G. Perry, A. Venkatram, J.C. Weil, R.J. Paine, R. F. Lee, W.D. Peters.(1998)
 AERMOD Description of Model Formulation.
 Version 98315(AERMOD and AERMET) and 98022 (AERMAP). EPA document. Posted on EPA Web site. http://www.epa.gov.scram001.
- A.J. Cimorelli, S.G. Perry, R.F. Lee, R.J. Paine, A. Venkatram, J. C. Weil, R. Wilson.(1998)
 The Status of AERMOD: A Dispersion Model for Industrial Sources.
 Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. (Advertised but never presented)
- B A.J. Cimorelli, R.B. Wilson, S.G. Perry, A. Venkatram, J.C. Weil, R.J. Paine, R.F. Lee, W.D. Peters. (1998). Draft Document.

 Minimum Meteorological Requirements for AERMOD Study and Recommendations.

 USEPA. No document Number.
- B Code of Federal Regulations(1997)
 Guideline on Air Quality Models
 40CFR, Part 51, App W, pp346-438. July 1, 1997 (USA),
- W.M. Cox, J.A. Tickvart. (1990) A Statistical Procedure for Determining the Best Performing Air Quality Simulation Model.
 Atmospheric Environment, Vol 24A, pp2387-2395.
- B C. Cuvelier (Editor).(1993). Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced Practical Short-Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Aug 30-Sept 3, CSCS (Cetro Swizzero di Calcolo Scientifico) Manno. EC-JRC. EUR 15603 EN. Catalogue No. CL-NA-15603-EN-C.
- B.M. Davies, D.J. Thomson.(1997).
 Investigating the Importance of Pre-Processing in Estimating Dispersion Climatology.
 Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion
 Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published
 in Int J. of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos. 3-6, pp590-603.

IF D.C. DiCristofaro, B.A. Egan (1986).

A Comparison of Complex Terrain Models Using the Full Scale Plume Study (FSPS) Database: Complex 1, RTDM and CTDM.

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology. November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper 9.4, pp219-222.

A EPA.(1995).

AERMIC Model (AERMOD) Evaluation - Design and Implementation. OAR Regulatory Docket AQM-95-01, USEPA.

A M. Garrison, J Sherwell(1997)

Evaluation of the AMS/EPA Regulatory Model (AERMOD) Complex Terrain Algorithms.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 90th Annual Meeting & Exhibition. Toronto, Canada. June 8-13. Conference code 48211, Paper 97-WA69.02.

S.E. Gryning, E. Lyck. (1984).

Atmospheric Dispersion from Elevated Sources in an Urban Area: Comparison Between Tracer Experiments and Model Calculations.

J. Climate and Applied Meteorology. Vol. 23, pp651-660.

BD D J Hall, A M Spanton, M Bennett, F Dunkerley, R F Griffiths, B E A Fisher and R J Timmis, (1999).

Evaluation of new generation atmospheric dispersion models.

Proceedings of 6th International Conferences on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modeling for Regulatory Purposes. Rouen, France, 11-14th October, 1999.

To be published in Int J of Environment and Pollution.

- B S. R. Hanna, D. G. Strimaitis, J.C. Chang (1991). Hazard Response Modelling Uncertainty, A Quantitative Method. Volume 1: Users Guide for Software for Evaluating Hazardous Gas Dispersion Models. Sigma Research Corporation.
- ADIF S.R. Hanna, B.A. Egan, J Purdum, J Wagler. (1999). Evaluation of ISC3, AERMOD, and ADMS Dispersion Models with Observations from Five Field Sites. Hanna Consultants, Report No P020. Prepared for the American Petroleum Institute Air Modelling task Force.
- ARI S.R. Hanna, B.A. Egan, J. Purdum, J. Wagler(1999). Evaluation of the ADMS, AERMOD, and ISC3 Models with the Optex, Duke Forest, Kincaid, Indianapolis, and Lovett Field Data Sets.

Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.

ADI D.J Harvey(1998a)

AERMOD and ADMS Compared.

Report from Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling Ltd.

ADI D.J. Harvey(1998b)

Air Dispersion Modelling in Support of IPC.

Paper presented at I Chem E meeting on 'Application of Atmospheric Modelling to Environmental Impact Assessment.' Peterborough 19th march 1998. Overheads only ADMS 2.11 and 2.2 comparisons..

B D. J. Harvey .(1998c).

IPC Contributions to Exceedences of Air Quality Objectives: Scoping Study. Working Paper 2.WS Atkins Environment.

AD D.J. Harvey, E.D. Obasaju (1999).

Accuracy of Techniques for Modelling the Effects of Building Downwash on the Dispersion of Emissions to the Atmosphere.

Clean Air, Volume 29, March/April, 1999.

S.R. Hayes, G.E. Moore. (1986).

Air Quality Model Performance: A Comparative Analysis of 15 Model Evaluation Studies.

Atmospheric Environment, Vol. 20 pp. 1897-1911.

J.G. Haywood.(1996). Use of SCREEN Cavity region Calculations in the ISCST3 Model.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Associations's 89th Annual Meeting. Nashville, Tennessee. June 23-28, 1996. Paper No 06-WP86.01.

R.A. Hill, I. Teasdale, N. Chambers, C. Puxley, T. Parker.(1999). Comparison Between Field Measurements of 85-Kr Around the BNFL Sellafield Reprocessing Plant and the Predictions of the NRPB R91 and UK-ADMS Atmospheric Dispersion Models.

Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.

R A Hill, I Lowles, I Teasdale, N Chambers, C Puxley and T Parker (1999). Comparison between field measurements of 85-Kr around the BNFL Sellafield Site reprocessing plant and the predictions of the NRPB R-91 and UK-ADMS atmospheric dispersion models.

Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.

B J.C.R. Hunt, R.J. Holroyd, D.J. Carruthers, A.G. Robins, D.D. Apsley, F.B. Smith, D.J. Thomson.(1990).

Developments on Modelling Air Pollution for Regulatory Purposes Proceedings of the 18th NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and its Application. Vancouver .

Air Pollution Modelling and its Applications, VIII. Eds H Van Dop, D.G. Stein. Plenum Press, New York . 1991. Pp 17-59.

B J.S. Irwin.(1997).

Models.

Standard Practice for Statistical Evaluation of Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Draft ASTM Designation Z6849Z. ASTM, 100 Barr Harbor Drive, West Conshohocken, PA 19428-2959, USA.

- J.S. Irwin (1999). Effects of Concentration Fluctuations on Statistical Evaluations of Centreline Concentrations Estimates by Atmospheric Dispersion Models.
 Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.
- B J.S. Irwin, M-R Rosu(1998).
 Comments on a Draft Practice for Statistical Evaluation of Atmospheric Dispersion

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. Pp6-10.

DR J.A. Jones, A. Mayall, P.J. Cooper(1995)

Comparison of the ADMS and R91 Atmospheric Dispersion Models . National Radiological Protection Board, Report No NRPB-M572.

G. Kanevce, Lj. Kanevce, A. Markoski (1999). Estimation of the Air Quality Impact of the Bitola Power Plant.

Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.

IF R.F. Lee, J.L. Dicke, J.B. Merach. (1986).

The Impact of Revisions to Regulatory Air Quality Models.

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology. November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper 8.2, pp190-193.

IF R. F. Lee (1993).

Pilot Study: Evaluation of the ISCST2 Model.

In Cuvelier(Ed). Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced, Practical, Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Manno, Sept 1993. Joint Research Centre (European Commission for Safety Technology. EUR 15603 EN.

B R. F. Lee, J.S. Irwin(1995).

Methodology for a Comparative Evaluation of Two Air Quality Models. Proceedings of the Workshop on Operational Short-range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, Nov 21-24, 1994

Published in Int. J. of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5, Nos 4-6, pp723-733.

AF R.F. Lee, R.J. Paine, S.G. Perry, A.J. Cimorelli, J.C. Weil, A. Venkatram, R.B. Wilson. (1996)

Developmental Evaluation of the AERMOD Dispersion Model.

Proceedings of the 21st NATO/CCMS Conference,' Air Pollution Modelling and its Application', Baltimore, Maryland 6-10 November. Pp623-630.

Also in Proceedings of American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. Pp 21-25. AMA Paper No 1.5.

A R.F. Lee, R.J. Paine(1998).

Evaluation of Improvements to the Draft AERMOD Dispersion Model. Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. Paper No?

M. K. Liu, G.E. Moore (1984).

Diagnostic Validation of Plume Models at a Plains Site.

EPRI Report No. EA 3077. Available from the Electric Power Research Institute, 3412 Hillview Avenue, PO Box 10412, Palo Alto, CA 94303, USA.

B R. Londergan, D. Minott, D. Wackter, T Kincaid, D. Bonitata(1983). Evaluation of Rural Air Quality Simulation Models. TRC Environmental Consultants Inc. EPA Report No.450/4-83-003.

ADIR P.R. Maul, S. Bushell(1995).

Atmospheric Dispersion Computer Code Inter-comparisons.

Draft Intera. Report. No IM 4304-2 Version 1.

ADIR P.R. Maul, B.E.A. Fisher(1995).

A Review of Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Integrated Pollution Control. Intera Report No. IM4303-1, Version 1.

IDR P.R. Maul, B. E. A Fisher, S.D. Bushell.(1996)

Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Integrated Pollution Control. Quantisci, Report IM4304 Version 3.0.

DB C. A. McHugh, D. J. Carruthers, H. A., Edmunds(1998).

ADMS and ADMS Urban.

Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int. J. of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos 3-6, pp 438-440.

DB C.A. McHugh, D.J. Carruthers, D.J. Edmunds. (1998).

ADMS-Urban: An Air Quality Management System for Traffic, Domestic and Industrial Pollution.

Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J, of Environment and Pollution, Vol 8, Nos 3-6, pp 666-674.

- AIDF C.A McHugh., D.J Carruthers., H Higson., S.J Dyster. (1999) Comparison of Model Evaluation Methodologies, with Application to ADMS3 and US Models. Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Rouen, France, 11-14 October, 1999.
- B MEG (1994). Guidelines for Model Developers. Model Evaluation Group, CEC DGXII.
- DB C. Mensink, G. Maes. (1997)

Comparative Sensitivity Study for Operational Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models.

Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos. 3-6, pp590-603...

M.T. Mills.(1979). Data Base for the Evaluation of Short Range Dispersion Models. Teknetron Inc. Berkely CA, USA. EPA Report NoR-001-EPA-79.

M.T. Mills, R. Caffazza, D, Herget, D. Lynn. (1981). Evaluation of Point Source Dispersion Models.

Teknetron Inc, Berkely CA, USA. EPA Report No. 450/4-81-032.

B H.R. Olesen(1990).

Summary of Model Evaluation Discussions in Manno.

Proceedings of the Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced Practical Short-Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Aug 30-Sept 3, CSCS (Cetro Swizzero di Calcolo Scientifico) Manno. C. Cuvelier (Editor).(1993). Pp 1-10. EC-JRC . EUR 15603 EN. Catalogue No. CL-NA-15603-EN-C.

B H.R. Olesen (1990)

Review of Earlier Model Evaluation Work.

Proceedings of the Workshop on Inter-comparison of Advanced Practical Short-Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models. Aug 30-Sept 3, CSCS (Cetro Swizzero di Calcolo Scientifico) Manno. C. Cuvelier (Editor).(1993). Pp11-19. EC-JRC . EUR 15603 EN. Catalogue No. CL-NA-15603-EN-C.

B H.R. Olesen. (1994).

European Co-ordinating Activities Concerning Local Scale Regulatory Models. Air Pollution Modelling and its Applications X.

B H.R. Olesen(1995).

Datasets and Protocol for Model Validation

Kit for the Workshop on 'Operational Short Range Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessments in Europe'.

Prepared for the Workshop on Operational Short Range Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November 1994. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5 Nos. 4-6, pp693-701.

B H.R. Olesen (1995).

The model Validation Exercise at Mol. Overview of Results.

Presented at the Workshop on Operational Short Range Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November 1994. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5 Nos. 4-6, pp761-784.

B H.R. Olesen.(1996).

Toward the Establishment of a Common Framework for Model Evaluation.

Air Pollution Modelling and its Application, XI. Editors S-E Gryning and F Schiermeier, Plenum Press, New York. Pp519-528.

B H.R. Olesen(1997).

Use of the Model Validation Kit at the Oostende Workshop. Overview of Results. Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos. 3-6, pp??

B H.R. Olesen(1997).

Pilot Study: Extension of the Model Validation Kit.

Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos. 3-6, pp??..

B H. R. Olesen(1997b).

Tools for Model Evaluation.

Paper presented at 22cnd NATO/CCMS International Technical Meeting on Air Pollution Modelling and its Applications. June 2-6, Clermont-Ferrand, France. To Appear in Air Pollution Modelling and its Application XII. Edited by S-E Gryning and N. Chaumerliac, Plenum Press, New York.

H. R Olesen.(1998)

Model Validation Kit - Status and Outlook.(1998)

Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. Pp. 63-70.

B H.R. Olesen (1998).

Local Scale Regulatory Dispersion Models. Initiatives to Improve 'Modelling Culture'.

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. AMA Paper 2.2. Proceedings, pp49-53.

H.R. Olesen (1999). Model Validation Kit – Recent Developments.

Proceedings of 6th International Conferences on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modeling for Regulatory Purposes. Rouen, France, 11-14th October, 1999.

To be published in Int J of Environment and Pollution.

R.J. Paine, R. F. Lee, R Brode, R.B. Wilson, R.F. Lee, W.D. Peters. (1998). AERMOD, Description of Model.

EPA Document. Posted on EPA Web site. http://www.epa.gov/scram001.

AF R.J. Paine, R.F. Lee, R. Brode, R.B. Wilson, A.J. Cimorelli, S.G. Perry, J.C. Weil, A. Venkatram, W. D. Peters(1998).

Model Evaluation Results for AERMOD.

USEPA Draft Document, December 17th.

R.J. Paine(1996). Evaluation of Building Downwash Models with Several Data Bases.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste management Associations Annual Meeting, Nashville, Tennessee, June 23-28, 1996. Paper No 96-TA24A.02.

R.J. Paine(1997). Evaluation of Building Downwash Models Using Field and Wind Tunnel Data: Results for ISCST3.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 90th Annual Meeting. June 8-13, Toronto, Ontario, Canada. Paper No 97-TA2A.04.

R.J. Paine, F. Lew(1998). Consequence Analysis for Adoption of PRIME: an Advanced Building Downwash Model.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association 91st Annual Meeting. June 14-18, 1998. San Diego, California. Paper No98-RA76B.03.

S.G. Perry, A.J. Cimorelli, R.F. Lee, R.J. Paine, A. Venkatram, J.C. Weil, R.B. Wilson.(1994).

AERMOD: A Dispersion Model for Industrial Source Applications.

paper Presented at the 87th Annual Meeting of the Air and Waste Management Association. Cincinnati Ohio, June 18-24. Preprint No94-TA23.04.

AI W.D. Peters, R.J. Paine, R.F. Lee, et al(1999)

Comparison of Regulatory Design Concentrations Predicted by AERMOD and ISCST3 and CTDMPLUS Air Dispersion Models.

EPA Web site, www.epa.gov/scramm001.

AI W.D. Peters, R.J. Paine, R.B. Wilson, A. J. Cimorelli, S.G. Perry, J.C. Weil, A. Venkatram. (1999)

Comparison of Regulatory Design Concentrations: AERMOD Versus ISCST3 and CTDMPLUS.

EPA Web site, www.epa.gov/scramm001.

B R.L. Petersen.(1986).

Statistical Evaluation of Integral and Regulatory Plume Rise Algorithms.

American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology.

November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper 13.1, pp319-322.

B T.E. Pierce(1986).

Estimating Surface Concentrations from an Elevated, Buoyant Plume in a Limited-Mixed Convective Boundary Layer.

American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology.

November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper No. 13.4, pp331-334.

DE S. R. Porter, D.J. Hall., D.J. Carruthers,

Physical and Computer Modelling of Dispersion of Toxic Smoke from Warehouse Fires.

Presented at 3rd Seminar - European Research in Industrial Fires.

17th -18th Sept 1996. RISO National Laboratory, Roskilde, Denmark.

DF A.G. Robins, D.J. Carruthers, D. Thomson (1993)

Summary of Validation of ADMS.

No Reference given.

DB A. Robins, D. J. Carruthers, C.A. McHugh (1997).

The ADMS Building Effects Module.

Presented at 4th Workshop on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Oostende, Belgium, 6-9 May 1996. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution. Vol. 8, Nos. 3-6, pp 708-717.

E A. Robins, P. Hayden, I Teasdale (1998)

Dispersion from Elevated Sources Above Obstacle Arrays - Modelling Requirements. Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. P 162. (Paper not available yet)

A.G. Robins, C. McHugh.(1999)Development and Evaluation of the ADMS Building Effects Module.

Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.

B Royal Meteorological Society (1995).

Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling: Guidelines on the Justification of Choice and Use of Models and the Communication and Reporting of Results.

Policy Statement. Published in Collaboration with the UK Department of the Environment.

B R.H. Schultz.(1994).

Balancing Simplicity with Accuracy in the Use of Dispersion Modelling in the United States.

Presented at the Workshop on Operational Short Range Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November 1994. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5 Nos. 4-6, pp 521-529.

A J. Sherwell, R Brower, M Garrison, R. J Wayland.(1998).

Further Evaluations of the AMS/EPA Regulatory Model(AERMOD).

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA.

B R.H.Schultz, D. Bruce Turner (1998).

Potential Use of NOAA-Archived Meteorological Observations to Improve Air Dispersion Model Performance.

EM, March 1998, pp12-21. Air and Waste Management Association, Pittsburgh, PA, USA.

R.H. Schultze(1999). Procedures Used by US Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) to Develop and Adopt Newer Dispersion Models.

Proceedings of sixth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. October 11-14, Rouen, France.

B M.E. Smith(1984). Review of the Attributes and Performance of 10 Rural Diffusion Models

Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, Vol. 65, pp. 554-558.

T.B. Staples, A.M. Riddle(1995).

Dispersion of Industrial Gases Over Variable Topography.

Proceedings of the Fourth IMA Conference on Stably Stratified Flows and Dispersion over Topography, pp 247-261.

IF D. G. Strimaitis, W.H. Snyder (1986).

An Evaluation of the Complex Terrain Dispersion Model Against Laboratory Observations: Neutral Flow Over 2-D and 3-D Hills.

Proceedings of the American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology. November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper 9.3, pp215-218.

AI J. A Tarde, J. Manville, J. Westbrook, T.J. Martin, (1998)

A Comparison of Model Results for AERMOD and ISCST3 for a Heavily Industrialised Region in Complex Terrain.

American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA.

IF R.K. Taylor (1996).

Evaluation of ISCST3 Dispersion Model Performance Using Actual Emissions Data and Ambient Monitoring Data for a Large Chemical Manufacturing Facility Located in North Carolina.

Proceedings of the Air and Waste Management Association's 89th Annual Meeting, Nashville Tennessee, June 23-28th. Paper No 96-TP24B.03.

RDB R.J. Timmis(1995),

Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Regulatory Processes in the UK. Presented at the Workshop on Operational Short Range Dispersion Models for Environmental Impact Assessment in Europe. Mol, Belgium, 21-24 November 1994. Published in Int J of Environment and Pollution, Vol. 5 Nos. 4-6, pp 471-485.

B R.J. Timmis, S. Wilkinson, D.J. Carruthers, C. McHugh(1998)

Recent Studies to Validate and Compare Atmospheric Dispersion Models for Regulatory Purposes.

Proceedings of Fifth International Conference on Harmonisation within Atmospheric Dispersion Modelling for Regulatory Purposes. Rhodes, Greece, 18-21May. Pp 429-436.

TRC (1982).

Evaluation of Rural Air Quality Simulation Models.

USEPA Research Triangle Park, NC 27711. EPA-450/4-83-003 (NTIS#PB83-182758)

USEPA(1993).

Users Guide for the Model Evaluation Methodology (MEM) System for Comparing Model Performance. Version 1 (Draft) USEPA. Research Triangle Park, NC 27711.

D A.T. Veal, R.S. Appleby(1998)

Comparison of ADMS Urban and Indic Airviro Regional Scale Dispersion Model. http://www.bham.ac.uk/geography/met/task1.htm

A Venkatram, L. Weil, A. Cimorelli, R. Lee, S. Perry, R. Wilson, R. Paine.(1998) AERMOD's Simplified Algorithm for Dispersion in complex Terrain.

American Meteorological Society/Air and Waste Management Association Joint Conference (AMS 10th Conference on Air Pollution Meteorology) 11-16 January, Phoenix, USA. Paper 5B.1, pp212-214

- J.C. Weil. (1977).
 Evaluation of the Gaussian Plume Model at Maryland Power Plants.
 Martin Marietta Laboratories, Baltimore, MD, USA. Report No PPSP-MP-16.
- J.C. Weil, A. F. Jepsen. (1977). Evaluation of the Gaussian Plume Model at the Dickerson Power Plant. Atmospheric Environment, Vol 11, pp901-910.
- J.C. Weil(1980). Performance of Simple Models for Stack Plume Dispersion During Convective Conditions.
 Martin Marietta Laboratories, Baltimore, MD, USA. Report No, PPSP-MP-30.
- B J.C. Weil (1986). Dispersion of Buoyant Plumes in the Convective Boundary Layer. American Meteorological Association/Air Pollution Control Association Fifth Joint Conference on Applications of Air Pollution Meteorology.

 November 18-21, Chapel Hill, NC USA. Paper no 13.5, pp335-338.
- J.C. Weil, R.L. Sykes, A. Venkatram (1992). Evaluating Air Quality Models: Review and Outlook
 J. of Applied Meteorology, Vol 31, pp1121-1145.